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Di r e cstaementd

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the membéine Company together with the
audited financial statements for the financial year ef3defecember 2018

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages F&E are drawn up so as to give a true and
fair view of theconsolidatedinancial positiors of the Group and th&nancial position of
Company as @1 December 2018nd theconsolidatedinancial performancesonsolidated
changes in equity anzbnsolidatedcash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date
in accordance with International FinandReporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The board of directors of the Company has, on the date of this statementjsaedthioese
financial statements for issue.

Directors
The directors in office at the date of tBistementre as follows:

Ho Han Leong Calvin

Ho Han Khoon (Alternate Director to Ho Han Leong Calvin)
KingstonKwek Eik Huih (Appointed orb March2019)

Neo Teck Pheng

Ting Ping Ee, Joan Maria

Yee Chia Hsing

Wee Guan Oei Desmond

Directorso6 interests

According to the register kept by the Company, particulars of interests of directors who held office
at the end of the financial year (includithose held by their spouses and children) in shares,
debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations are as follows:

Holdings in the name of the  Holdings in which directors
director, spouse and/ are deemedo have
or children an interest
At beginning At end At beginning At end
of the year of the year of the year of the year
The Company
Ordinary shares
Ho Han Leong Calvin 1,300,000 2,050,000 265,264,991 291,791,490
Ho Han Khoon 700,000 1,050,000 260,694791 286,764,270
(Alternate Director to
Ho Han Leong Calvin)
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Holdings in the name of the  Holdings in which directors
director, spouse and/ are deemed to have
or children an interest
At beginning At end At beginning At end
of the year of the year of the year of the year
The Company
Ordinary shares
Neo Teck Pheng - — 274,146,791 301,561,470
Ting Ping Ee, Joan Maria - 110,000 - -
Yee Chia Hsing 100,000 220,000 — -

$162.2 million 3.9806

Perpetualconvertible

capital securities
Ho Han Leong Calvin - 425,000 - 66,316,247
Ho Han Khoon (Alternate

Directorto Ho Han Leon

Calvin) - 225,000 - -

Neo Teck Pheng - 3,363,000 - -
Ting Ping Ee, Joan Maria - 25,000 - -
Yee Chia Hsing - 100,000 - -

Except as disclosed in thssstement no director who held office at the end of the financial year
had interests in shares, debentungarrants or share optiortd the Company, or of related
corporations, either at the beginnioigthe financial yeaor at the end of the financial yea

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end
of the financial year angl January2019.

Except as disclosed under t he eth&htégheenda,mari ons”
at any time dung the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects

are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company othebody corporate.

Share options

Employee share option scheme

On 19 May 2014, the shareholders of the Company adopted a share option scheme known as the
First Sponsor Employee Share Option Scheme (t

The Share Option Scheme wifovide eligible participants (which include the NErecutive
Directors) with an opportunity to participate in the equityh@Company and to motivate them
towards better performance through increased dedication and loyalty.
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The Share Option Scheme @&lministered by the Administration Committee, comprising
members of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Commniitieeexercise price of

the options that are granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined at the discretion
of the Adninistration Committeand may be

(a) setatadiscounttoapriCet h e “ Ma relualto the average tife)last dealt prices
for the aresonth&i ngapore Exchange SecuSTtjites Tr ad
five consecutive market days immedlgt@receding the relevant date of grant of the
relevant option (subject to a maximum discount of 20.0%), in which event, such options
may be exercised after the second anniversary from the date of grant jpfiohs;or

(b) fixed at theMarketPrice. Theseoptions may be exercised after the first anniversary of the
date of grant of taoptiors.

The aggregate number of shares which may be offered by way of grant of options to all controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective associateshen8bare Option Scheme shall

not exceed 25.0% of the total numbersbéres available under the Share Option Scheme, with
the number ofshares which may be offered by way of grantmgiionsto each controlling
shareholder of the Company and his respecassociate not exceeding 10.0% of the total number

of shares available under the Share Option Scheme.

During thefinancialyear, no options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

During the financial yeathere were:

(i) no options grantebly the Company to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company;
and

(i) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the
Company.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares ofrtparaunder option.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during timancialyear and at the date of thetatement
are:

Yee Chia Hsing (Chairman)
Ting Ping Ee, Joan Maria (Member)
Ho Han Leong Calvin (Member)

Ho Han Khoon (Alternat®irector to
Ho Han Leong Calvin)

The Audit Committee performs the functions specifiedheSGX-ST Listing Manual and the
Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held 4 meetigs nce t he | ast. Inderformiogite r s’ S
functi ons, the Audi t Commi ttee met with the Co
the scope of their work, the results of their

accounting control system.
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The Audit Committee also reviewelkt following:
T assistance provided by t handiGemlpaditoys;, s of f i

1 quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company
prior to their submission to the directors of the Compangpdoption; and

1 interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of thes$Gisting Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to
discharge its functions. It has full authority and trsemtion to invite any director or executive
officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the
external auditors and reviews the level of audit andanatit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the indagence and objectivity of the external auditors

and has recommended to the board of directors of the Company that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be
nominated for reappointment as auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

In appointing ar auditors for the Company and its subsidiaries, we have complied with Rules
712 and 715 of the SGXRT Listing Manual.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accegbpeintment.

On behalf of thdBoard ofDirectors

Ho Han Leong Calvin
Director

Neo Teck Pheng
Director

6 March 2019

c

e
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|l ndependent auditorso report

Members of the Company
First Sponsor Group Limited

Opinion
We have audited the financial statementficét Spmsor Group Limited t he “ Company” ) ¢
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which compri se

the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company3dsecember 2018he
consolidatedstatement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolistatethent of cash floves the Group

for the year then ended, and notes to theniomal statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, as set out on pages F&F585.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
statement of financial position of the Company are prgpdrhwn up in accordance with the

I nternational Financi al Reporting Standards (*“
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at

31 December 2018nd of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity

and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singagoteandar ds on Auditing (°
responsibilities under thosARudittaodad dseapendiulbi
the audit of t h sectibniohoarmeparta\We asetindepandent oftthe Group in
accordance with the @ounting and Corporate Regulatory Authorl®pde of Professional

Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting EnfittsA CRA Code” ) , t og
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 8ingapor

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and

the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as aleytand in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KPMG LLP (Registration No. TO8LL1267L) an accounting

limited liability partnership registered in Singapore under the

Limited Liability Partnership Act (Chapter 163A) and a member 5
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms

affiliated wi th KP MG Intern

International ), a Swiss enti
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Valuation of investment properti€¢$259.1 million)
(Refer to Note 3.5 and Note 5 to the financial statements)

The key audit matter

How the matter wasdalressed in our audit

The Group owns a portfolio of investmen
properties in China and the Netherland
These investment properties are carried
their fair values. The Group engage
external valuers to value its propertie:
where appropriate. The valtion models
applied to determine the value of investme
properties are sensitive to assumptiol
around occupancy rates, capitalisation rate
rental yield, sales prices and discount rate
where applicable.

Our response:

We assessed the competency angatlvity
of the valuers engaged and held discuss
with the valuers to understand their valuat
methods and assumptions used, w
necessary.

We reviewed the valuation methodologies &
assumptions used by the valuers ¢
management in arriving atahvaluations of
t he Group’' s i nv €erkigd
includes a comparison of capitalisation rat
sales prices and discount rates with extern
derived data. We also tested the data
information used by the valuers including t
occupancy ratesnd rental yield by comparin
to the actual occupancy rates and rental i
and analysed trends of these key assumpt

Our findings:
The valuers are members of recogni
professional bodies for valuers.

The valuation methodologies applied we
corsistent with generally accepted mar
practices. The key assumptions used W
within the range of market data and (
expectations.
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Valuation of property, plant and equipment ($170.4 million)
(Refer to Note 3.3 and Note 4 to the financial stateg)ent

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audi

The Group owns two hotels (CroeRlaza
Wenjiang and Holiday Inn Express
Wenjiang) and the adjoining hotspring
property in Wenjiang as at 31 Decembe
2018.

Crowre Plaza Wenjiang incurredan
accountingloss during the year and the
hotspring property did not perform as well
expected. Indicators of impairment for thes
assets were identified. The Group performe
animpairment assessment of CroavRlaza
Wenjiang and hotspring property segtaty
as at 31 December 201Bhe estimation of
the recoverable amount of CrowrPlaza
Wenjiang andthe hotspring property is
dependent on assumptions about the futu
Specifically, significant judgement is
required in relation to the appropriati
occupang rate, average daily rate, revenu
growth rate and the discount rate to use
determining the recoverable amount.

No indicator of impairment was identifiec
for Holiday Inn Express Wenjiang as 3it
December 2018.

Our response:

We reviewed the key assiptions adopted b
management in determining the recovers
amouns of Crowre Plaza Wenjiang an
hotspring property. This included
comparison of occupancy rate, average d
rate and revenue growth rate to historical r
and trends. We also compardte discount
rate against externally derived data.

Our findings:
The valuation methodology applied w
consistent with generally accepted mar
practices. The key assumptions used W
within the range of market data and ¢
expectations.
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Valuationof i nvest ment i
(Refer to Noted to the financial statements)

n Dongguan East Sun

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audi

The Group accounted for the investment
East Sun as a financial asset measured at
value through profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of this
investment, the Group has used the net as
value of the investee, adjusted for the fa
values of the underlying properties held k
the investee based on independent exter
valuations,and applied a discount to take
into consideration the nemarketable nature
of the investment, where applicable.

Judgement is involved in determining a
appropriate valuation method and the ke
assumptions to be applied in fair valuing tr
investment.

Our response:
We engaged internal valuation specialists
assess the valuation approach

assumptions used by the Group in deriving
fair value of the equity securities against th
applied for similar equity securities. W
assessed the reasonabkmef the fair value
of the underlying properties held by t
investee as well as the discount rate appl
by considering comparable properties @
available industry market data.

Our findings:

The valuation approach used by the Grou
deriving the &ir value of the investment i
East Sun is in line with generally accept
market practices and data.
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Other information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other
information is defined as all informat in the annual report other than the financial statements

and our auditors’ report thereon.
We have obtained the Directors’ Statement prior
Hi ghlights, Chairman’s St at emd rDirectorsMbenierst one s

Management, Corporate Structure, Corporate Directory, Sustainability Reporting, Corporate
Governance, Financial Review, Major Properties, and Statistics of Ordinary Shareh(iliings
“Reports”) are expecsaltatthatdatebe made avail abl e 1t

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to reathtre
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materialstatesl.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditors’ report, we conclude th
information, we are required to report that fact. Weehaathing to report in this regard.

When we read the Reports, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions
in accordance with SSAs.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of intermahéng

controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation efana fair financial statements and to
maintain accountability of assets.

I n preparing the financial statements, manageme
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relatedgte@uiern and

using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsi bil itirepsriingpracésside over see
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Auditorsdé responsibilities for the audit of the

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraudoreer , and t o i ssue &
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misgliatents can arise from fraud or error and are considered

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit imccordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

A Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and feem audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from eor, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

A Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriatdghie circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’

A Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures mmadeanagement.

A Conclude on the appropriateness of manageme
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant daubt ® he Gr oup’' s abi |
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors
statements or, if such disclosures are inadeguatmodify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained wup
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

A Evaluate the overall presentatjstructure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

A Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidencegarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remaswlely responsible for our audit opinion.

10
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controls that we idgify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to leeapur independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therdteye the

audi t matters. We describe these matters in o
preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our repoduse the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits

of such communication.

The engagement partner on t he audi t resul tin
Koh Wei Peng.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
6 March 2019

11



Statements of Financial Position

As at31 December 2018

Non-current assets

Property, planand equipment

Investment properties

Subsidiaries

Interests in associates and joil
ventures

Derivative assets

Other investments

Deferred tax assets

Trade and other receivables

Current assets
Development properties
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Assets heledor-sale

Other investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assts

Equity

Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Perpetual cavertible capital
securities

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Derivativeliabilities
Other payablg
Deferred tax liabilities

Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings
Current tax payable
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Receipts in advance
Derivative liability

Total liabilit ies

Total equity and liabilities

Note

o 01 b~

e
PEBow~

12

11
13

14

15
16

17

18
19
10
18
19

20
21

First Sponsor Goup Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$6000 $6000 $6000 $6000
170,435 230,844 306 389
259,135 282,634 - -
- - 720,981 653,581
80,817 64,361 9,669 -
19,385 350 19,385 350
78,131 23,380 - -
33,387 25,905 - -
660,948 284,455 779,204 370,608
1,302,238 911,929 1,529,545 1,024,928
356,890 390,704 - -
215 175 - -
505,887 445,534 389,902 570,997
51,610 - - -
39,262 38,863 - -
125,711 319,298 18,139 4,527
1,079,575 1,194,574 408,041 575,524
2,381,813 2,106,503 1,937,586 1,600,452
81,405 73,640 81,405 73,640
1,069,091 1,006,514 868,766 807,067
1,150,496 1,080,154 950,171 880,707
161,285 - 161,285 -
11,713 6,727 — —
1,323,494 1,086,881 1,111,456 880,707
641,390 609,988 604,732 574,171
5,564 13,122 5,564 13,122
12,527 12,811 - -
8,638 3,870 - -
668,119 639,791 610,296 587,293
45,338 - 45,338 -
36,994 30,306 30 145
138,381 166,093 170,466 128,139
161,279 177,726 - -
8,208 1,538 - -
- 4,168 - 4,168
390,200 379,831 215,834 132,452
1,058,319 1,019,622 826,130 719,745
2,381,813 2,106,503 1,937,586 1,600,452

The accompaying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

FS1



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended31 December 2018

Revenue 22
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Selling expenses

Otherincome(expenses(net)

Other gains/(losses) (net) 23
Results from operating activities

Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance income 24

Share of aftetax profit of associates and joint ventui

Profit before tax 25
Tax expense 26
Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Earnings per share
- Basic (cents) 27
- Diluted (cents) 27

First Sponsor Goup Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
277,361 384,392
(115,861) (231,360)
161,500 153,032
(27,997) (24,146)
(7,782) (5,319)
3,257 (13,998)
2,838 (56)
131,816 109,513
17,132 17,082
(9,902) (9,010)
7,230 8,072
5,502 3,648
144,548 121,233
(26,298) (27,940)
118,250 93,293
113,008 88,283
5,242 5,010
118,250 93,293
16.72 13.619
15.02 13.61

@ The figures have been restated for the effeth@bonus issue undertaken in April 2018.

The accompaying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

FS2



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended31 December 2018

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclasified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation differencas financial
statementarising fromliquidation ofsubsidiaries
reclassified to profit or loss

Share of translation differences on financial stateme
of foregn associateand jointventuresnet of tax

Translation differences on financial statements of
foreign subsidiaries, net of tax

Translation differences on monetary items forming |
of net investment in foreign subsidies,net of tax

Net change in fair value ather investmeniset of tax

Total other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year

First Sponsor Goup Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group

2018 2017
$ 000 $ 000
118,250 93,293
1,187 -
(1,589) 893
(22,464) (16,574)
(1,486) (1,470)
— (3,949)
(24,352) (21,100)
93,898 72,193
88,912 67,361
4,986 4,832
93,898 72,193

The accompaying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended31 December 2018

Total
attributable
Foreign to equity Perpetual
currency holders  convertible Non-
Share Share Statutory Capital  Distributable Fair value translation  Retained of the capital controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Company  securities  interests equity
$600' $600' $0600O0 $600' $600 $600 S600¢ $0600' $600' $0600 $600 $600!
Group
At 1 Januanp018 73,640 9,609 33,447 225 662,764 (3,949) 36,950 267,468 1,080,154 - 6,727 1,086,881
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS ! - - - - - 3,949 - (3,949) - - — —
Adjusted balancat 1 January 2@L 73,640 9,609 33,447 225 662,764 - 36,950 263,519 1,080,154 - 6,727 1,086,881

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - - - - - - - 113,008 113,008 - 5,242 118,250

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation differences
financial statements arising from
liquidation of subsidiaries reclassified
to profit or loss - - - - - - 1,187 - 1,187 - - 1,187

Share of translation differences on financ
statements of foreign associatesl joint
ventures, net of tax - - - - - - (1,589) - (1,589) - - (1,589)

Translation differences on financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries,

net of tax - - - - - - (22,208) - (22,208) - (256) (22,464)
Translation differences on monetary item

forming part of net investment in forei

subsidiaries, net of tax - - - — — - (1,486) - (1,486) - - (1,486)
Total other comprehensive income - - - — — - (24,096) - (24,096) - (256) (24,352)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - — — - (24,096) 113,008 88,912 - 4,986 93,898

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement

Year ended31 December 2018

Transaction with owners, recognised
directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to
owners

Share
capital

$600!

Changes

Equity

Foreign
currency

translation

reserve

S600!

(cont 6d)

Retained
earnings

$600!

Total
attributable
to equity
holders
of the
Company

$600

First Sponsor Group Limited

and its Subsidiaries
Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Perpetual
convertible
capital
securities

$600:

Non-
controlling Total
interests equity

$600° $600¢

Dividends paid to owners of the
Company Kote 16)

Issuance of bonus sharéoe 15)

Issuance of perpetual convertible capital
securiti eMotel7f PCCS

PCCS issue expenses

Distributions of PCCS

Issuance of new shares pursuant to
conversion of PCCS

Liquidation of subsidiaries

Transfer tostatutory eserve

7,735

(14,271)

(4, 54_1)

2,568
(5,748)

(14,271)

(4, 54_1)

242

162,199
(672)

(242)

- (14,271)

- 162,199
- (672)
- (4,541)

Total contributions by and distributions
to owners

7,765

(21,992)

(18,570)

161,285

— 142715

Total transactions with owners of the
Company

7,765

(21,992)

(18,570)

161,285

— 142715

At 31 December2018

81,405

12,854

354,535

1,150,496

161,285

11,713 1,323,494

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes iBquity ( cont 6 d)

Year ended31 December 2018

Total
attributable
Foreign to equity
currency holders Non-
Share Statutory Capital  Distributable Fair value translation Retained of the controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Company interests equity

Group $600 $600¢ $600( $600¢ $0600( SO600C $0600C $600( $0O6001 $06001
At 1 Januan2017 736,404 27,445 225 - - 53,923 196,983 1,024,589 5108 1,029,697
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - - - - 88,283 88,283 5,010 93,293
Other comprehensive incone
Share of translation differences on financial staten

of foreign associates, net of tax - - - - - 893 - 893 - 893
Translation differences on financial statements of

foreign subsidiaries, net of tax - - - - - (16,396) - (16,396) (178) (16,574)
Translation differences on monetary items forming

part of net investment in foreign subsidiaries,

net of tax - - - - - (1,470) - (1,470) - (1,470)
Net change in fair value of availaHier-sale equity

securities, net of tax - - - - (3,949) - - (3,949) - (3,949)
Total other comprehensive income - - - - (3,949) (16,973) - (20,922) (178) (21,100)
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — (3,949) (16,973) 88,283 67,361 4,832 72,193
Transaction with owners, recgnised

directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends paid to owners of the Compahipofe 16) - - - - - - (11,796) (11,796) - (11,796)
Capital reduction by a subsidiary - - - - - - - - (3,213) (3,213)
Disposal of a subsidiary - (1,261) - - - - 1,261 - - -
Transfer to statutory reserve — 7,263 — — — — (7,263) — — —
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - 6,002 - - - - (17,798) (11,796) (3,213) (15,009)
Captal reduction Kote 15) (662,764) — — 662,764 — — — — — —
Total transactions with owners (662,764) 6,002 - 662,764 - - (17,798) (11,796) (3,213) (15,009)
At 31 December2017 73,640 33,447 225 662,764 (3,949) 36,950 267,468 1,080,154 6,727 1,086,881

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended31 December 2018

Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equignt 4
Fair value (gain)/loss on:

- derivative assets/liabilitigget)

- investment properties 5
- other investmerst

Finance income 24
Finance costs 24
(GainYlosson disposal of:

- a subsidiary 23
- assets heldor-sale 23
- investment properties 23
- property, plant and equipment 23
Impairment loss on:

- assed heldfor-sale 13
- investment properties 5
- property, plant and equipment 4
Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries (net) 23
Property, plant and equipment written off 23
Share of aftetax profit of associatesnd joint ventures 7
Tax expense 26
Trade receivables written off

Write down of development properties 12
Changes in:

- developmenproperties

- inventories

- trade and other receivables

- tradeand other payables

- loans and borrowings

- contract liabilities

Cash (used injeneratedrom operating activities
Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities

First Sponsor Group Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
118,250 93,293
6,172 5,510
(30,761) 14,177
(6,930) (4,038)
(12,850) -
(17,132) (17,082)
9,902 9,010
1) -
(6,253) -
(272) 62
1 (6)
4,088 -
- 602
14,053 9,345
85 -
1 —
(5,502) (3,648)
26,298 27,940
- 13
3,153 987
102302 136,165
24,172 5,910
(42) (97)
(458,197 (370,367)
(126,488) (29,034)
128,173 277,923
(12,226) (6,877)
(342306 13,623
80,705 54,611
(13,054) (7,012)
(22,074) (24,070)
(296,729 37,152

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (¢c
Year ended31 Decenber 2018

Cash flows from investing activities
Deposits received in respect of disposal of assets

held-for-sale 6,839 -
Deposits received in respect of sales of a subsidiary 28 - 2,200
Dividends received from an associate 18,295 -
Interest received 15,366 16,179
Loans to a third party —* (57,073)
Payment for acquisition of other investments (3,395) -
Payment fo additions to:
- investment properties (15,851) (42,391)
- property, plant and equipment (421) (6,423)
Payment for investments in associate and joint vesitL (36,778) (6,187)
Placement of other investments (1,427) (62,554)
Proceeds from disal of:
- assets heldor-sale 29,665 -
- investment properties 3,278 745
- property, plant and equipment 68 18
Receipt of deferred consideration from dilution

of interest in subsidiaries - 41,000
Receipt of investment principal and returranira

PRC government linked entity - 9,663
Repayment of loans by third parties - 139,168
Return of capital from an associate 5,369 1,533
Net cash from investing activities 21,008 35,878
Cash flows from financing activities
Advances from ssociates 3,009 13,484
Decrease in restricted cash - 263
Distributions to PCCS holders 27 (4,541) -
Dividends paid to the owners of the Company 16 (14,271) (11,796)
Interest paid (5,038) (7,255)
Loan from a norcontrolling interest - 12,490
Paynent of transaction costs related to:
- bank borrowings (3,153) (7,545)
- PCCs (672) -
Proceeds from bank borrowings 293,551 766,308
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary —* -
Proceeds from issuance of PCCS 162,199 -
Redemption of medium ternotes — (50,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings (345,950) (744,192)
Return of capital to nenontrolling interests — (3,213)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 85,13 (31,456)

* Amount less than $1,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statementof CashFles (cont 6d)
Year ended31 December 2018

Note

Net (decrease)hcrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in
foreign currencies

Cash and cash guivalents at end of the year 14

First Sponsor Group Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group
2018 2017
$600C $ 000

(190,587) 41,574
319,298 280,304
(3,000) (2,580)
125,711 319,298

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Notes to the financial statements

First Sponsor Group Limitec

and its Subsidiaries
Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Dirat®idarch 2019

Domicile and activities

First Sponsor Group Limited“ FSGL” or the “Company”) is

and has its registered office RIO. Box 31119, Grandakilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay

Road,Grand Cayman, KY-1.205, Cayman Islands

nco

The principal activities of the Company are those relating to investment holding. The principal

activities of the subsidiaries are those relating to investment holdingenpyalevelopment and

sales, property investment, hotel ownership and operations and provision of property financing

services.

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 De2ehdmmmprise

the Company and its subsi

di ar i

es (together

entities”), anginetuityaccdintedinpestees.i nt er e st

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have heprepared in accordance withe International Financial
Reporting Standards (“1I FRSs"”).

This is the first set of
significant accounting policies are described in note 2.5.

Basis of measurement

t he

r

IERSAL D Revesue fiomn u a |
Contracts with Customerand IFRS 9 Financial Instrumentdave been apigd. Changes to

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise

described in the notes below.
Functional and presentation aency

The financi al statement s

currency.All financial information presented in Singapore dollars have been rounded to the

nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Use of estimatesna judgements

The preparation ofhe financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to

ar e

presented

n

Si

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, incangeexpenses. Actual results may differ

from these estimates.

FS1C
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Year ende®1 December 201

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in anyrfatisre pe
affected.

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statearentsluded inNotes 3.1

and Note 9- Assessment of ability to control or exx significant influence over partiywned
investment.

Information aboutassumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment within the next finahgearareincluded in the following
notes:

1 Note3.18 — Estimation of provisions for current and deferred taxation

1 Note 4 — Estimation of useful lives, residual values and recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment

1 Note 5 — Valuation of investment properties

1 Notes6andll — Measurementfaecoverable amounts afterestsn and balances with
subsidiaries

1 Note 7 — Measurement of recoverable amouafsnterestsin associatesind

joint ventures
1 NoteslOand26  — Estimation of provisions for withholding tax and land appreciation tax

T Notell — Estimation of recoverability of trade receivahldsalances with
associates aridans tothird parties

1 Notel2 — Measurement of realisable amounts of properties under development
and completed properties for sale

T Notes9 and30 — Valuation of finamial instruments
Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’'s accounting policies
values, for both financial and ndéimancial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framewatk respect to the measurement of fair values.

The Group Chief Executive Officer (“Group CEC
CFO”) have overall responsibility for all si g
fair values.

If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values,
then the Group CEO and Group CFO assess the evidence obtained from the third parties to support
the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements 8f IR&luding the level in the fair

value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data
as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into diffieneels in a fair value hierarchy based
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
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9 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

9 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included withavel 1 that are observable for
asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from p

fLevel 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable mark
(unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liédiilityto different levels of the

fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest levgluinthat is significant to the entire measurement
(with Level 3 being the lowest).

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Further information laout the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the
following notes:

1 Note 5-Valuation of investment properties
T Notes 9 and30- Valuation offinancialinstruments
Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the followingstlards for the first time for the annual period beginning
on 1 Januar018:

1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customexng
T IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

A number of other new standards are also effective from 1 January 2018 but they do not have a
materi al ef fect on the Group’s financial sta
position.

Due to the transition methods chosen by the Group in applying these standards, comparative
information throughout these financial statements has et testated to reflect the requirements

of the new standards, except for separately presenting impairment loss on trade receivables (see
B).

A. IFRS 15Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determiningpevhbw much and when
revenue is recognised. It replaced IASR&/enuglAS 11 Construction Contractand related
interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the
goods or services. Determining the timinglué transfer of contret at a point in time or over

time —requires judgement.
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The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical
expedients), with the effect of initially applying this standard recognised at thefdiaigal
application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been
restated— i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related
interpretations. Additionally, the disclosure requirementd~RS 15 have not generally been
applied to comparative information.

There was no materi al i mpact on the Group’s
December 2017 and 2018 upon the adoption of IFRS 15.

For additional information aboutthe Gy s accounting policies rela
see notes 3.13 an@.2

B. IFRS 9Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities
and some contracts to buy or sell Hovancial items. It also introduces a nexpected credit
lossmodel and a new general hedge accounting model.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to I1AS
1 Presentation of Financial Statemenighich require impirment of financial assets to be
presented in a separate line item in theestent of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to IFHR&Eial Instruments:
Disclosuresthat are appéid to disclosures about 2018 but have not been generally applied to
comparative information.

The following table summarises the impautt of tax, of transition to IFRS 9 on the opening
balance of fair value reserve and retained earnings.

Impact of
adopting
IFRS 9 on
opening
balance
Group
$600C
Fair value reserve
Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017) 3,949
Cumulative change in fair value of availalite-sale equity securities (3,949)
Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 January 2018) -
Retained earnings
Closing balance under IAS 39 (31 December 2017) 267,468
Cumulative change in fair value of availalite-sale equity securities (3,949)
Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 January 2018) 263,519

The impact upon adoption of IFRS Sdiescribed below.
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Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive incomtaanalue through profit or
loss. The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model

in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.

IFRS 9

eliminates the previous IAS 39 egories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available
for sale. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in

the scope of the standard are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrumdicies a

is assessed for classification.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement

of financial liabilities.

The adoption of

to financial liabilities.

I FRS 9

has not had

areq@tedgni fic

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and measures financial instruments and accounts
for related gains and losses under IFRS 9, see note 3.7(ii).

The following tables and the accompanying notes below expteinoriginal measurement

categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the
Group’s financi

Group

Financial assets
Trade and other receivabl

Cash and cash equivalent

Other investments
structured deposits

Other investments equity
securities

Total financial assets

Company

Financial assets

Redeemable preference
shares

Trade and other receivabl

Cash and caslgeivalents

Total financial assets

Note

@)

(b)

al assets as at 1 January
Original New
Original New carrying carrying
classification classification amount amount
under under under under
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
$600 $600
Loansand Amortised cos 717,896 717,896
receivables
Loansand Amortised cos 319,298 319,298
receivables
Loans and Fair value 38,863 38,863
receivables  through profit
or loss
Available-for- Fair value 23,380 23,380
sale through profit
orloss
1,099,437 1,099,437
Outof-scope Amortised cos 507,712 507,712
Loansand Amortised cos 941,566 941,566
receivables
Loans and Amortised cos 4,527 4,527
receivables
1,453,805 1,453,805
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(a) The structured deposits categorised as avafaisale under IAS 39 are held by the Group
in a separate portfolio to provide interestame, but may be sold to meet liquidity
requirements arising in the normal course of business. These assets have therefore been
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9.

(b) These equity investmeswere deignatedas measuredat fair value through profit or loss
because they were managed on a fair value basis and their performance was monitored on
this basis The Group has designated these investments at 1 January 2018 as measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

(i) Impact of financial assets

I FRS 9 replaces the “incurred | oss” model in
impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, contisanasdebt
investments at fair value throlugrther comprehensive incorgut not to investments in equity
instruments.

Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under IASe@note 3.9(i)For assets

in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model, impairment losses are gengpahtes to

increase and become more volatile. The Group and tmpé@ny have determined that the
application of I FRS 9's impairment requiremer
additional allowance for impairment.

Additional information abot how the Group measure the allowance for impairment is dedcribe
in note3.9 (i).

(i) Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below.

1 The Group has used an exdiop not to restate comparative information for prior periods
with respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements.
Difference in the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the adoption of IFRS
9 are recognised iretained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the
information presented for 2017 does not generally reflect the requirement of IFRS 9, but
rather thosef IAS 39.

T The determination of the business model within which a financial éssetldhas been

made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial
application.

3 Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in

these fimncial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, except as
explained in Note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies.
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(i)
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Basis of consolidation
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using theisitgn method in accordance with
IFRS 3Business Combinatioras at thalate ofacquisition, which is the date on which control is
transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at thete ofacquisitionas
9 the fair value of the consideratitnansferred; plus
T the recognised amount of any roontrolling interests in thacquires; plus

9 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of texigtiag equity
interest in thexcquiree,

over the net recognised amount (genrdhir value) of the identifiable assets acquired and

liabilities assumed. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideratiorransferred does not include amounts related to the settlement@figtiag
relationships.Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value datheofacquisition and
includedin the consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition
of a financial instrument is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted
for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to thedhiewf the contingent consideration

are recognised in profit or loss.

Noncontrolling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of teequiree s net assets in the eitheeatt of |
fairvalueoratthenenontr ol |l ing i nterests’ proportionate
acquiree s i dent i f i ab ldede ofaggtisitians $he imeasuremdnt basis éaken is

elected on a transactidny-transaction basis. IPother norcontrolling interests are measured at
acquisitiondate fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by IFRSs.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities, that the Grpuincurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as
incurred.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidia
for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefdpistmnents are made

to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Adjustments toomiolling

interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a
proportionate amount of the net assets oftiiesidiary.
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(ii) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns througts power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changedneéltessary to align them with the
policies adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to theaatnolling interests in a subsidiary
are allocated to the natontrolling interests even if doing so causes theawnirolling interests
to have a deficit bafece.

(i) Acquisitions from entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfer of interests in entities that are under the control of

the shareholder that controls the Group are accounted for using book value accounting. The assets
andliabilities acquired are recognised at the carrying amounts recognised previously in the Group
controlling shareholder’s consolidated finan:«
acquired entities are added to the same components within Groiyp al any gairor loss

arising is recognised directly in equity.

(iv) Loss of control

When the Group losses the control over a subsidiadgrécognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiaryandanyrelatednoncontrolling interests and the ottmymponents of equity. Any
resulting gain or losis recognised in profit or los#ny interest retained in the former subsidiary
is measured at fair valughencontrol is lost.

(v) Investmensin associatesnd joint ventures (equity-accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is
presumed to exist when the Group holds 20% or more of tlegvobwer of another entityA

joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights
to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Investments in a®ciatesand joint ventureare accounted for using the equity method. They are
recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the consolidated financi al st at enessdnd othern c | u d e
comprehensive income of equiigcounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting
policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influemcgint control

commences until the date that significant influeocint controlceases.

When the Group’'s share of J{awouste givesteedheeadying i t s |
amount of the investment, together with any loeign interests that form part thereof, is reduced

to zero, and the recognitiori further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group

has an obligation to fund the investee’'s oper .

(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, andumrealised income and expenses arising frontintra

group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
gains arising from transactions with eqeétycounted investees are eliminated against the
investmenttd he extent of the Group’s interest in t
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Subsidiaries associatesnd joint venturedn the separate finandal statements

Investments in subsidiarieassociateand joint venturea r e st ated i n the Comg
of financial position at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.2 Foreign currency
(1) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign cuancies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the reportiatpare translated to the functional cemcy

at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the
difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted
for effective interest and payments during the year,thacamortised cost in foreign currency
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair
value are translated to the functional currency at the exchiategat the date that the fair value

was determined. Nemonetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical
cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences arising on tnalation are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the datarting

The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactioBeodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets ailitidimlof the foreign operation and
aretranslated at the exchange rates at the repattitey

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the
foreign currency translation reserve in equity. Howevehgfforeign operation is a navholly-

owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated
to the norcontrolling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that camtrol
significant influenceor joint controlis lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiamyctbdes a
foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to nowwontrolling interest When the Group disposes of only part of its investment

in an associater a joint venturethat includes doreign operation while retaining significant
influenceor joint contro] the relevant proportion of the cumulative amoun¢@assified to profit

or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is
neither planned nor likelyo occurin the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses
arising from such a monetary itehatare considered to form part of a net istveent in a foreign
operationare recognised in other comprehensive income, arglpresented in the foreign
currency translation reserve in equity.
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Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment@easureet costwhich includes capitalised borrowing
costsless accumulated depiation and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of
self-constructed assets includes

9 the cost of materials and direct labour;

9 any other costs directly attritalile to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use;

1 when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which thegated;|
and

9 capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful livegréhey
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the
difference between thaet proceeds from disposal and the carrying amainthe item) is
recognised net in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits edidtia

the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced component is derecognised. The costs of tHe-day servicing of property,

plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss@sred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the
remainder of that asset, that compdrisrlepreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a slirégbasis over the
estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is
included in the carrying amount ahother asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term. No depreciation is recognised on consimyatagness.
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Depreciation is recognised from the date that property, plant and equipment are installed and are
ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is
completed and ready for use.

The estimated usefuMes for the current and comparatixeas are as follows:

Buildings
1 Core component of hotahd hotsprindpuildings 35 years
9 Other buildings 50 years
1 Surface, finishes and services of hatet!

hotspring buildings 30to 35years
Plant and machinery 5to 15 years
Equipment and furniture 3to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5to 10 years

Residual values ascribed to the core component of the dradehotsprinduildings depend on
the nature, location and tenure of the hatetl hotspringporopertes. No resdual values are
ascribed to building surface, finishes and services of the &adehotsprindpuildings.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible asses

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the
measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, $éme 3.1(i).

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated imm@ait losses. In respect of associaed

joint ventures the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the
investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms pdrof the carrying amount of the associaded joint ventures

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties (including inteneseasehold landnder operating lease

held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation dodtir, but not for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any chartgerein recognised in profit or loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.
The cost of seltonstructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour,
any other cets directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition
for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.
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Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the
net proceeds &m disposal and the carrying amount of the property) is recognised in profit or
loss.

Property that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted for at fair
value.

Transfers

Transfers to, or from, investment properties areenatlen there is a change in use, evidenced
by:

1 commencement of development with a view to sell, for a transfer from investment properties
to development properties;

 commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from development
properties or property, plant and equipment to investment properties; or

1 commencement of occupation by owner, for a transfer from investment properties to property,
plant and equipment.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassifigd@aty, plant and equipment,
its fair value at the date of transfer becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leaskfon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset.

Ot her | eases are operating | ecansoidateddatechenttof e n o't
financial position.

Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Non-derivative financial assets and finandidiabilities

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an iterhatdair value through profit

or loss transaction costs that are directly attributable tadtgiisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.
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(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
Non-derivative financial assets Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

On intial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortisexnt tastvalue
through profit or loss.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unléSsotipe
changes its business model for manadingncial assets, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the
business model.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised ¢distrieets both of the following conditions and is

not designated as fir value through profit or loss

9 itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

9 its contractual terms give rise on spixif dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All otherfinancial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Olradtgnition,

the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to
be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income as at fair value
through profit or loss if doing so eliminatessignificantly reduces an accounting mismatch that
would otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessnieRblicy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asse
is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
9 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of thosegoiic
practice. These include whether management
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or exgppeetgh outflows or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;
how the performance of the portfolio is eval
the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assetsineld wit
that business model) and how those risks are managed;
1 how managers of the business are compensategl whether compensation is based on the

fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
1 the frequency, volume and ting of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for

such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

E

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered salesforts pur pos e, consistent with the (
the assets.
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Financial assets that are hétd-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and intere$t Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

For the purposes of this assessment, “princip
on initial recognition. ‘Il nterest’ is defined
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time

and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquigik and administrative costs), as well as

a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the

Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual

cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group

considers:

9 contingent events that would change the amount or tiofiegsh flows;

1 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features;

1 prepayment and extension features; and

T terms t hat Il i mit the Group’'s cl ai-racourse cash
features).

A prepaymenteature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and inteieston if

the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additionakosatmon for early
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount
or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an
amount that substantially represents thetmwtual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid)
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature
is insignificantat initial recognition.

Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and ldsdeslicy
applicable from 1 January 2018

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets are subsequently measured at fair valugaibgetnd losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reducdry impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and

losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Non-derivative financial assets Policy applicable before 1 Jarary 2018

The Group classifies nederivative financial assets into loans and receivables, and avdiiable
sale financial assets.

Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and Idsgeslicy
applicable before 1 January 2018

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables were financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not
guoted in an active market. Such assetse initially measured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequenintiial recognition, loans and receivables were
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses

Loans and receivables comprised cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables
Availablefor-sale firancial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets were Rderivative financial assets that were designated as
availablefor-sale or were not classified in any of the above categories of financial assets.
Availablefor-sale financial assets were initialipeasured at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they were measured at fair value
and changes therein, other than impairment losses, interest income and foreign currency
differences on availabior-sale debt investments, were recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity. When these amounts were
derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity was reclassified to profit or loss.

Available-for-sak financial assets comprised equity securities and structured deposits.
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised

Financial liallities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised ior post These financial
liabilities comprised loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expirer @ transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction

in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are

transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantialfytiadl risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Group also deggises a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a finaial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any +oash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilitie® affset and the net amount presented in the statement

of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
sdtle the liability simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits, term deposits and other short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and have
maurities of three months or less from ti&te ofacquisitionthatare subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of-texishort
commitments.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value and any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured
at fair value, and changes therein are generally recognigedfinor loss.

Share capital
Ordinary sharesand perpetual convertible capital securities

Ordinary shares are classified as equgrpetual convertible capital securities are classified as
equity when there is no contractual obligation to delivehaa other financial assets to another
person or entity to exchange financial assets or liabilities with another person or entity that are
potentially unfavourable to the issuer.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shatgserpetual convertible
capital securitieare recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount ofsideration paid,

which includes directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from
equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for
own share account. When treasury sharessold or reissued subsequently, the amount received

is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is
presented in a nedistributable capital reserve.
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Development properties
Properties under developmefor sale

Properties under development are those properties which are held with the intention of
development and sale in the ordinary course of busifdssy are stated at the lower of cost and
estimated net realisable value. Net realisable vigltree estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of properties under development for sale consgpsgecifically identified costs,
including the prepaid land lease paymerggquisition costs, development expenditure,
capitalised borrowing costs and other related expenditure. Borrowing costs payable on loans
funding a development property are capitalised, on a specific identification basis, as part of the
cost of the propeks under development for sale until the completion of development. When
completed, the properties under development are classified as completed properties for sale.

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale aneasuredt the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total land gaktvelopment costs and capitalised borrowing
costsif any, based on floor area of the unsold properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to salproceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business less all estimated
selling expenses; or is estimated by management in the absence of comparable transactions after
taking into consideration prevailing market conditions.

The aggregated cosere presented as development properties while progress billings are
presented separately @antract liabilitiesn the consolidated statement of financial position.

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets
Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Grouprecognises loss allowances for expected credit lossésantial assets measured at
amortised costs.

Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases:

1 12-month expected credit losses: these are expected credit lossessthiafrom default
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period
if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months); or

9 Lifetime expected credit losses: these are expected credit lossesstiiafrom all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument

Simplified approach
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses for all trade

receivables. The simplified approach requires dss lallowance to be measured at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses.
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General approach

The Group applies the general approach to provide for expected credit losses on all other financial
instruments. Under the general approach, the ldewahce is measured at an amount equal to
12-month expected credit losses at initial recognition.

At each reporting date, tf@roupassesses whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When @resk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifexipeeted credit
losses

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recagnition and when estimatingxpected credit lossethe Group considers reasonable

and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, baseded@raug s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes ftookirdy information.

If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such thatréhés no longer a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equahtonti2expected
credit losses

The Groupconsiders a financial asset to be in default winenborrower is unlikely to paiys
credit obligations to th&roupin full, without recourse by th&roupto actions such as realising
security (if any is held)

The maximum period considered when estimataxpected credit losses the maximum
contractual period over which tl&roupis exposed to credit risk.

Measuremendf expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are probabilitgighted estimates of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the sadureflow

to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Creditimpaired financial assets

At each reporting da, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised costs are
crediti mpai r ed. A f i nianmpcaiiarle dd s swehte ni so n‘ecroerdimor e
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset baxedc

Evidence that a financial asset is cradipaired includes the following observable data:

9 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

1 therestructuring of a loan or advance by@neupon terms that th&roupwould not consider
otherwise;

it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

1
1 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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Presentation of allowance for expected credit logsdke stéement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted
from the gross carrying amount of these assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off ¢efiadially or in full) to the

extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovdtyis is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the aunts subject to the wriaff. However, financial assets that are written

of f could stil]l be subject to enforcement act
for recovery of amounts due.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2018

A financial asset not carried fir value through profit or losincluding an interest in an associate

and joint venture, was assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there
was objective evidence that it was impairédfinancial assetvas impaired if objective evidence
indicated that a loss event(s) had occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the
loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that could be estimated
reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity investments) were impaired included
default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the
Group would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or isswéd enter bankruptcy,
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic conditions that correlate
with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a securityaddition, for an
investment in an equity security, a siggant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost

was olpective evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables

The Groupconsidered evidence of impairment for loans and receivadid®th an individual

asset and collective levelAll individ ually significant assets were individually assessed for
impairment. Those found not to be impaired were then collectively assessed for any impairment
that had been incurred but not yet identifiggssets that were not individually significant were
colledively assessed for impairmerollective assessment was carried out by grouping together
assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, t@oup used historical information on the timing of
recoveries and the amount 0§k incurred, and made an adjustment if current economic and credit
conditions were such that the actual losses were likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by
historical trends.

An impairment lossvascalculated as the difference between its caggmount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows, dis
Losseswvererecognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and
receivables When the Groupansideredhat theravereno realistic prospects of recovery of the

asset, the relevant amountere written off. If the amount of impainent loss subsequently
decreasednd the decreaseasrelated objectively to an event occurring after the impairmest w
recognised, then the previously recognised impairmentasseversed through profit or loss.
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Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on availaHiar-sale financial assets were recognised by reclassifying the
losses accumulated ingHair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The amount reclassified
was the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation)
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously froploss. If the

fair value of an impaired availabfer-sale debt security subsequently increased and the increase
was related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the
impairment loss was reversed through prof loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss for an investment in an equity instrument classified as avaftakédale were not reversed
through profit or loss.

(i) Associatesnd joint ventures

An impairment loss in respect of an assoc@te joint venturds measured by comparing the
recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount in accordancetheith
requirements for nefinancial assets An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. An
impairment loss is reversetl there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

(iii) Non-financial assets

The <carrying amo u nfinanmcialoassets, btleer tlian imuegimest properties,
development propertiegyventories and defeed tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date

to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
each yeaat the same timeAn impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset

or its related caspenerating unit‘CGU") exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of itsinalae andts fair value less

costs to sell. In assessing valneuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a ptax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specifidite asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwiill
impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level
at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest Etwvhich goodwill is monitored

for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Impairment losses are recognised in profilass. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated @6stthe
(group of CGUs)and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group
of CGUs) on gro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the
loss has decreased or no longer existsimfgairment loss is reversed if there has been a change

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the asset’s carrying amou.l
have beerdetermined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an assocjaitet venture

is not recognised separately, and therefore is not tested fairmgnt separately. Instead, the
entire amount of the investment in an assodciafeint venturas tested for impairment as a single
asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an assgoiateventuremay be
impaired.

Non-currert assetdeld-for-sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are highly probable
to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use, are classiéiketl as
for-sale Immediately before claggiation asheldfor-sale the assets, or components of a disposal
group, are remeasured in accor demater, theasstets, t he
or disposal group, classified bsld-for-saleare generally measured at the lower ofrtharrying

amount and fair value less cosissell.

Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining
assets and liabilities goro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial
assetsdeferred tax assets and investment property, which continue to be measured in accordance
wi th the Gr oup’ simpaionen lasses onnngial gassificatonreddfor-sale

and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recogpisditlan loss. Gains are not
recognised in excess of any cumulative impairment loss.

Property, plant and equipment once classifietield-for-saleare not depreciated. In addition,
equity accounting of associates and joint ventures ceases onceedassitld-for-sale

Employee benefits
Shortterm employee benefits

Shortterm employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided.liability is recognised for the amount expected®paid

under shorterm cash bonus or presharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contritution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pesmployment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts.

Payments to defined contribution ptaare charged as an expense when employees have rendered
the services entitling them to the contributiofayments made to stateanaged defined
contribution schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are recognised as an
employee benefit exgmse in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by
employees.
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Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the P
PRC subsidiaries of the Gr oup cadnttalpé&€ionSahdmes di ar
(the “Schemes”) operated by |l ocal munici pal
required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their employees to the Schemes

to fund their retirement benefit¥he loal municipal governments undertake to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the PRC Subsidiaries.

The only obligation of the PRC Subsidiaries with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing
required cotributions under the Schemes mentioned abd@entributions under the Schemes

are accounted for as contributions to defined contribution plans as described above.

(i) Sharebased payment transactions

The grant date fair value of sharased payment awardsagted to employess recognised as

an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees
unconditionally become entitled to the awar@ife amount recognised as an expense is adjusted

to reflect the number ofwaards for which the related service and moarket performance
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is
based on the number of awards that meet the related service amdark@t performance
conditionsat the vesting datef-or sharebased payment awards with Reesting conditions, the

grant date fair value of the shdrased payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there

is no trueup for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

3.12 Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be requiresb settle the obligationProvisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at atgxerate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the lidbigtynwinding of

the discounis recognised as finance cost.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economibenefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or ramturrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is.remot

3.13 Revenue

0] Sale of properties
Revenue is recognised when control osedevelopmenproperty has been transferred to the
customety determiningvhen(a) the construction of the relevant progenas been completed;
(b) the propest is ready for handoweto the purchasers; and (c) collectapibf the proceeds is

reasonablyassured.

Revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Progress billings to the
customer are basexhterms set out in the sales and purchase agreement.
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Where the period between the satisfaction of a performance obligation and payment by the

customer exceeds a year, the Group adjusts the transaction price with its customer and recognises
a financing component. In adjusting for the financing componenGitbep uses a discount rate
that would reflect that of a separate financing transaction between the Group and its customer at
contract inception. The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to adjust the

transaction price for the existencesignificant financing component when the period between

the transfer of control of good or service to a customer and the payment date is one year or less.

Rental income

Rental income from investment propestarerecognised in profit or loss on a stylat-line basis

over the term of the leaseease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total

rental income, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the

accounting period in which they are earned.

Hotel income

Hotel revenue from accommodation, sales of food and beverages and other ancillary services is

recognisedwhen the Group satisfied a performance obligation by transferring control of a

promised good or services to the customer. The amousvehue recognised is the amount of
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

Interest income on entrusted loangendor financing arrangementand loans to associase

Interest income on entrusted loans made via entrustbems and from vendor financing

arrangements with selected

buy e rasd orolbansttd e

associates recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Government grants

An unconditional gogrnment grant is recognised in profit or loss as other income when the grant

becomes receivable.

Gr o

Government grants relating to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets, and
released to profit or loss over the expected useful lif@frélevant asset or over the benefits

received by the Group related to the assets.

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on disedigkts over

the term of the leasd.ease incentives received aeeognised as an integral part of the total lease

expense, over the term of the lease.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic
earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profivss attributable to ordinary shareholders

of the Company by theeightedaverage number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year,
adjusted for own shares helBiluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or

loss attributablg¢o ordinary shareholders and thiveightedaverage number of ordinary shares

outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares

which compriseperpetuatonvertible capital securities
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3.17 Finance income anfinancecosts

The Group’s finance income and finance costs

1 interest income on funds invested and other receivables (other than entrusted loans, vendor
financing arrangements and loans to associates); and
1 interest expense on borrowings and fiicial derivatives

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.

The 'effective interest rate’ is the rate the
receipts through the expected life of the financial umegnt to:

1 the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

1 the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asseti crediimpaired) or to the amortised cost of the
liability. However, for financial assets that have become ciegtiired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
costof the financial assetf the asset is no longer credlihpaired, then the calculation of interest
income reverts to the gross basis.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
a qualifying assedre recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

3.18 Tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferredGaxent tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combinattemsrecognised
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain
tax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accouihtexh fonder
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, adplistnyeat to tax
payable in respect of previous yeai$ie amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncestegtayed

income taxes, if any.

Current tax assetd liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

1 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

1 temporary differences reld to investments in subsidiariesissociatesand joint
arrangementso the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

i taxabk temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
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The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying afitsu
assets and liabilities.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair galuaccordance with the accounting

policy set out inNote 3.5, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale ¢those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather thgh throu
sale.In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted by the repoldilegDeferred tax assets and liabilities are

not discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities and assetand they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authmrithe same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tssek) tax credits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be utilisedeferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extat that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact
of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may b&hdu&roup
believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its
assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions andvobag ia series of judgements about
future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its
judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will
impact tax expense in the perittdit such a determination is made.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which

it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to
transactionswitakany of t he Gr oupAlsl ootpheerra tcionmgp osneegnmesn.t s’
are reviewed regularly by the Gro@EO andGroupCFO (the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM")) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment ssebsoitas
performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported toGREDM include items directly attributable to a segment as

well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basitocated itemsomprise mainly
corporate assets (primarily t he oGdiamgssetsgnds he a
liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant
and equipmen&ndinvestmeniproperties

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective

and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. An explanation of the impact,
if any, on adoption of these new requirements is providébbia 35.
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Property, plant and equipment

Group

Cost

At 1 January017

Additions

Written off during the year

Disposals

Reclassification

Transfer from development properties
Translation differences on consolidatic
At 31 DecembeR017

At 1 January018

Additions

Written off during the year

Disposals

Reclassification to assets hétit-sale
Transfer to development properties
Translation differences on consolidatic
At 31 DecembeR018
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Interests in
leasehold
land held for
own use unde
operating Plant and Equipment Motor Construction-
leases Buildings machinery and furniture vehicles in-progress Total
$600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C
29,581 183,372 7,871 2,000 2,621 24,472 249,917
- 160 763 300 509 10,041 11,773
- - - (46) (38) - (84)
- - 1) (20) (101) - (112)
- 29,677 4,245 111 - (34,033) -
- 3,897 - - - - 3,897
(575) (3,524) (147) (35) (27) (480) (4,788)
29,006 213,582 12,731 2,320 2,964 - 260,603
29,006 213,582 12,731 2,320 2,964 - 260,603
- 36 149 128 31 77 421
- - - (2) - - (2)
- - (116) (2) (153) - (271)
(8,692) (47,576) (1,630) (528) 5 - (58,421)
(613) (738) - - - - (1,351)
(534) (4,354) (290) (44) (37) (2) (5,261)
19,167 160,950 10,844 1,872 2,810 75 195,718
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Group

Accumulated depreciation
amortisation and impairment loss

At 1 January017

Charge for the year

Impairmentloss

Written off during the year

Disposals

Translation differences on consolidatic

At 31 DecembeR017

At 1 January018

Charge for the year

Impairmentloss

Written off during the year

Disposals

Transfer to development properties
Reclassification to assets hdlt-sale
Translation differences on consolidatic
At 31 DecembeR018

Carrying amounts
At 1 January2017

At 31 DecembeR017
At 31 Decembe2018

Note

25
25

25
25
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Interests in
leaseholdland
held for own
use under
operating Plant and Equipment Motor Construction-
leases Buildings machinery and furniture vehicles in-progress Total
$600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C
845 12,085 584 630 1,236 - 15,380
825 2,660 1,376 346 303 - 5,510
- 9,345 - - - - 9,345
- - - (46) (38) - (84)
- - - (8) (92) - (100)
(15) (220) (10) (7 (40) - (292)
1,655 23,870 1,950 915 1,369 - 29,759
1,655 23,870 1,950 915 1,369 - 29,759
695 3,196 1,671 320 291 - 6,172
- 14,053 - - - - 14,053
- - - (1) - - (1)
- - (83) (2) (118) - (202)
(77) (15) - - - - (92)
(1,146) (21,293) (888) (427) - - (23,759
(30) (519 (66) (17) (20) - (652
1,097 19,292 2,583 789 1,522 - 25,283
28,736 171,287 7,287 1,370 1,385 24,472 234,537
27,351 189,712 10,781 1,405 1,595 - 230,844
18,00 141,658 8,261 1,08 1,28 75 170,435
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Equipment Motor
and furniture vehicles Total
$600C $ @0 $600C
Company
Cost
At 1 Januar2017 47 356 403
Additions 108 - 108
Written off during the year D - 1)
At 31 DecembeR017 154 356 510
Additions 21 - 21
At 31 Decembe018 175 356 531
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 Januar2017 11 25 36
Charge for the year 36 50 86
Written off during the year (1) — (1)
At 31 Decembe017 46 75 121
Charge for the year 55 49 104
At 31 Decembe018 101 124 225
Carrying amounts
At 1 Januan2017 36 331 367
At 31 Decembe017 108 281 389
At 31 Decembe018 74 232 306

Reclassification

In 2018, the Group reclassified one hotel buildinglarlated assefs the Chengdu Cityspring
projectto assetdeldfor-saleasthe Group had entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
dispose these assets by May 2019.

Transfer(to)/from developmentproperties

In 2018, certain parts of the Chengdutf&pring project used to accommodate M Hotel Chengdu
staff amounting to$1,259,000 were transferredfrom propety, plant and equipmento
development propertiessthese properties wer® longer used by the Groupon the closure of

the hotel The Groupmtends to sell treeassetgo third parties.

In 2017, 174 car park lots, amounting to $3,897,000, were transferred from development
properties to property, plant and equipment as the Group decided to retain these car park lots for
its hotel operations i€hengdu.

Capitalisation of staff costs

Included int h e G property,’ plant and equipmeate staff costs capitalised Wil (2017
$650,000 during the financial year ended 31 Decen@&t8(Note 25).
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Significant accounting estimates
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a sttaighiasis over their estimated useful

lives, after taking into accoutite estimated residual valueshe Group reviews the estimated

useful lives and residual values of the assets at each reportingtateges in the expected level

of use of these assets and the Groukmgisto hi st or
account anticipated technological changes could impact the economic useful lives and the residual
values of the asset&ny changes in the economic useful lives and residual values could impact

the depreciation charge and consequently, impacttlsr oup’ s resul t s.

Impairment assessment of propertlant and equipment

Management's judgement is required in the are

* whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset valuex by
recoverable;

* whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by its estimated recoverable amount
which may be determinday using its fair value or valum-use; and

* the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in arriving at the rabtevamount.

Changing the assumptions usediiet er mi ni ng t he recoverabl e amo
financial conditions and results.

Impairment loss

Management undertook their annual review of the carrying amohaoted$ andhotspringfacility
for indicators of impairmerdnd, where appropriate, external valuation was also undertaken.

Hotspring facility

In 2018, lased on this assessmem, impairment charge 0$14,053000 included in other
expenses, was made in relatiorthie hotspring fatity located in the PR. The impairment in
relation to the hotspring facility was a result mérket conditionsin Chengdu, affecting the
operating performance of hotsprifagility. In particular, theevenue generatday the hotspring
facility were laverthan expected. The estimated recoverable amount was based on the-value
use of the hotsprinfacility determined by management.

The fair value measurement is categorised as Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy
The following table shows the key alpservable inpts used in the valuation model

Inter -relationship between

Valuation key unobservable inputs and

technique Key unobservable inputs fair value measurement

Discounted cashe Revenue growth rate: 54% at the first A significant increase in

flow method year and 6%a 8% at subsequent year: revenue growth ratend a
(2017 Not applicablg® significant decreasin discoun

* Discount rate8% (2017 Not rate would result in a
applicable @ significantly higher fair value
measurement.

@ Commenced operations on 27 October 2017
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The carrying amount of hotspring facility is the same as its recoverable amount after the
impairment loss. Therefore, any adse&movement in the key assumptions would lead to a further
impairment.

M Hotel Chengdu

In 2017, lmsed orma n a g e mssesimerd, ampairment charge of $9,345,00&cluded in

other expenses, was made in relation to M Hotel Chengdu, located in theTRR@npairment

loss was a result of the challenging hospitality market in Chengdu, affecting the operating
performance of the hotel. In particular, the room rates achieved by the hotel were lower than
expected. The estimated recoverable amount was bagee fair value of the hotel determined

by a professional valuer. The fair value measuremeastategorised as Level 3 on the fair value
hierarchy.

The following table shows the key unobservable inputs used in the valuation model:

Inter -relationship between
Valuation key unobservable inputs and
technique Key unobservable inputs fair value measurement

Discounted cashe Occupancy rateVot applicable in 2018 A significant increase in
flow method (2017 60% to 70%) occupancy rate and ADR, an
* Average dailyy at e ( NoADR” asignificant decrease in
applicable in 20182017 RMB420 to discount rate would result in
RMB610) significantly higher fair value
 Discount rateNot applicable in 2018 measurement.
(2017 8%)

The carrying amount of M Hotel Chengdu is the same as its recoverable amount after the
impairment loss.In May 2018, the Group entered intsale ad purchase agreement for the
disposal of M Hotel ChengdiThe assets wemeclassifiedto assets helfor-sale (Note 13)The

sale has not yet been completed as at 31 December 2018.

Investment properties

Group
Note 2018 2017

$600C $600C
At 1 January 282,634 231,197
Additions 15,863 42,391
Capitalised interestxpense 105 -
Impairment loss 25 - (602)
Disposals (3,00®) (3,269)
Fair value gain (rt¢ 25 6,930 4,038
Lease incentives (724) 46
Reclassification to assdtgld-for-sale (36,722) -
Translation differences on consolidation (5,9%) 8,833
At 31 December 259,135 282,634
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Group

Analysed between:

Completed properties 205,708 201,902
Properties under construction 53,427 80,732
259,135 282,634

In July 2017, the Group completed the acquisitiom @roperty located @&oortgebouw Hoog
Catharijne in Utrecht, the Netherlands. The properpart ofa newly builtbareshellbuilding
with a total lettable floor area of approximately 11,804 u ar e sqm't Wheels will(bé
developed into two hotelwith 320 rooms in total. This property, together WiB81sq m Q017
21,875 sq mof commercial space in Chengdu completed in4shedl condition constitutes the
investment properties under construction.

In May 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement for the dispealrof
commercial space irthe Chengdu Cityspring projectcompleted in barshell condition.
Accordingly, the properties were reclassified to assetsfoelsile (Notel3). The sale has not
yet been fully completed as at 31 December 2018.

Completed investment properties comprgs@aumber of commercial propertiggluding two
hotels in Amsterdam Southeastd adjoining car parkfat are leased to exterriahants The
leases contain initial necancellable periods oén to twentyfive years 2017 one to twentyfive
yearg. No contingent rents are charged.

0] Impairment loss
During the financial year ended 31 Deceni®@t 7, an impairment charge 602,000 included
in other expenses, was made in relation to investment properties in Dongguan, which were
subsequenthdisposedby the Groupin July 2017via the sale of the shares in the subsidiary
owning the properties

(i) Security
An investment propertyof the Group with a total carrying amount 0f%582,000
(2017 $91,069,00Dis mortgaged t@financial instituion to securea credit facility (refer toNote
18 for more details offte facility).
Measurement of fair value

)] Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement for investment properties108$1,000 (2017 $9,999,000 has
been categorised as a Level 2 fair value basexmboinaced sale price

The fair value measurement for investment propertie248,384,000(2017 $272,635,00phas
been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.
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The far value of the investment properties as at 31 Decer2b&8were based on valuations
undertaken byndependent valuersThe fair values at the reporting date were based on market
values, being the estimated ambtor which a property could be exchanged on the date of the

val uation between a willing buyer and a will:/
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.

The valuation of the investment properties was derived based on the discounted cash flow, income
capitalisationand market comparablmethods. The discounted cash flow method takes into
consideration the estimated net rent (using the current and propaseabe rental rates and
occupancy) and a discount rate applicable to the nature and type of asset in duesfiocome
capitalisation approach takes irtonsideration the estimated net rent and a yield rate applicable

to the nature and type of asset question.The market comparable method takes into
consideration the sales of similar properties that have been transacted in the open market.

Level 3 fair value
The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning balance to the ending kaflance

investment propertider whichfair value measuremenase categorised undeevel 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

Group

2018 2017

$600C $600C
At 1 Januay 272,635 221,577
Additions 15,863 42,391
Capitalised interesixpense 105 -
Disposals (1,311) (3,217)
Fair value gain recognised in profit or lesanrealised (net) 7,138 4,038
Lease incentives (724) 46
Reclassification to assdteld-for-sale (36,722) -
Change in fair value hierarchy to leve2 (3,045 (1,221)
Translation differences on consolidation (5,655 9,021
At 31 December 248,284 272,635

®  During the financial yearended 31 Decemb@018and2017, the Group hdentered into various sale
and purchase agreemeniith third partiesfor the sale of retail and commercial units. In this respect,
the fair value measurements of such investmemtgrties were reclassified from level 3 to level 2, with
the fair value of the investment propertiEsngthe contracted sale priee
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The following table shows the key unobservable inputs used in thatiealunodels:

Valuation
Type technique Key unobservable inputs
Completed Discounted < Rentalyield of 6.3%
properties cash flow (2017 5.5% to 7.40)
method * Discount rate 08.3%
(2017 5.0% to 8.80)
Market » Average sales price of
comparable RMB18,895 to RMB25,740
method (2017 RMB37,009 to
RMB38,029 persg m
Income » Capitalisation rate db.%
capitalisation (2017 6.6%)
method » Occupancy rate df00.0%
(2017 1000%)
Properties Discounted < Rentalyield of 6.5%
under cash flow (2017 6.3 10 7.2%)
construction method * Discount rate 08.5%
(2017 6.0%t0 8.3%)
Market » Average ales priceNot
comparable  applicable in 20182017
method RMB8,156t0 RMB8,316
per sgm
6 Subsidiaries

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Redeemable preference shares

Inter -relationship
between key
unobservable inputs ant
fair value measurement

A significantdecrease in
rental yieldanddiscount
rate would result in a
significantly higher fair
value measurement.

A significant increase in
average sales prices
would result in a
significantly higher fair
value measurement.

A significantdecrease in
capitalisation rateral a
significantincrease in
occupancy rate would
result in a significantly
higherfair value
measurement.

A significant decrease ir
rental yield and discoun
rate would result in a
significantly higher fair
value measurement.

A significant increase in
average sales prices
would resultin a
significantly higher fair
value measurement.

Company
2018 2017
$600C $600C
145,869 145,869
575,112 507,712
720,981 653,581
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The investment in regemable prierence shareselate toa wholly-owned subsidiarywhich

entitles the Company to receive a fixed cumulative preferential dividebl@®SEingapore cents

per share per annum and to redeem at par the whole or any part of the redeemableeoreferenc
shares held by the Company upon giving not less than 30 days prior written notice to the
subsidiay. The wholly-owned subsidiarynay redeem the whole or any part of the redeemable
preference shares at the original issue price upon giving not less tlaps3@rior written notice

to the holders of the redeemable preference shEnesnvestment is not expected to be redeemed

in the next 12 months.

In 2017 thewholly-owned subsidiaryedeemedi0,318,594edceemable preference shatesd
by the Compant the redemption price of $1.00 eablo redemptiorwasmade in 2018.

Details ofsignificantsubsidiaries are as follows:

Effective
Principal place equity
of business/ interest held
Country of by the
Name of subsidiaries Principal activity incorporation Group
2018 2017
% %

Held by the Company

A FS Investment Holdings Investment holding British Virgin 100 100
Limited Islands

Held through subsidiaries

**  Chengdu Gaeronic Real Property developmen Peopl e’ s 100 100
Estate Co. , propertyinvestment, of China
hotel ownership and
operations, and
investment holding
**  Chengdu Millennium Zhon Property developmen Peopl e’ s 100 100
Ren Ral Estate Co., Ltd hotel ownership and of China
(" CMZRRE") operations, and
property investment
**  Chengdu MingMing Consultancyand Peop !l mublie - 100
Management Consultan management service of China
Co., Ltd®
**  Chengdu Yong Chang Rei Property developmer Peopl e’ s 100 100
Estate Co., Ltd and property of China
(" CYCRE") investment

** First Sponsor (Guangdonc Investment holding Pe o p | eblic 100 100
Group Limited of China
(“FSGGL")
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*%

*%

0]

(i)

(iii)

(v)

Name of subsidiaries

FS Euro Capital Limited

Principal activity

Property financing

FS NL Amstel Developmel Property investment

16 B.V
FS NL Property 2 B.V.

FS NL Zuid Property
12B.V®

FS NL Zuidoost Property
11 B.V.

FS NL Zuidoost Property
15 B.V.

NL Property 1 B.V{®
(“NLP1")

Shanghai Sigma Investme Provision of poperty Peopl e

Co., Ltd™

Property investment

Property investment
and property
development

Property investment
and property
development

Property investment
and property
development

Property investment

financing services

Audited by other member firms of KPMG International

Not subject to audit by law of country of incorporation

The subsidiary was liquidated on 9 November 2018.
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Effective
Principal place equity
of business/ interest held
Country of by the
incorporation Group
2018 2017
% %
British Virgin 100 100
Islands
The Netherlands 100 100
The Netherlands 100 100
The Netherlands 100 100
The Netherlands 100 100
The Netherlands 100 100
The Netherlands 33 33
s 100 100

of China

The subsidiary was incporated on 17 November 2017 to hold a development property acquired from
a third party during the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

The entire equity interest in NLP1 was acquired from a third party by an indirect subsidiary of the
Company and threeo-investors in 2015. Pursuant to a call option agreement entered amongst the
Company and the three-tovestors in 2015, the three-govestors have irrevocably and unconditionally
granted to the Company, or its nominee, the right (but not the oblijatianquire such number of new
nonredeemable and nesonvertible preference voting shares in the capital of NLP1 at EUR1 each, such

that the Group

woul d have

maj ority voting

intere

Option, the Compay is deemed to have control over NLP1 and consolidates NLP1 as a subsidiary. To
date, the Company has not exercised the Call Option.

CMZRRE and CYCRE hold 33.3% equity interest each and CGRE and FSGGL hold 16.7% equity
interest each?017 CGRE and FSGGL held 50.0% equity interest each).
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Interests in and balances withassociatesnd joint ventures

Group Company
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C
Interests in associates 58,245 58,015 - -
Interests in joint
ventures 22,572 6,346 9,669 —

Total interests in
associates and joint
ventures 80,817 64,361 9,669 -

Balances with

associates and joint

ventures
Loans to associates

(trade) 11 608,379 497,882 - -
Loans to joint ventures

(trade) 11 59,388 - - -
Amounts due from

associates (netrade 11 41,831 42,895 - -
Amounts due frona

joint venture (non

trade) 11 521 - - -
Amounts due to
associates (netrade 19 (14,124) (12,437) — -

The loans to associates as at 31 DecebtBwere unsecureandinterest bearingith nominal
interest ratethat range betweed @6 and12.9% per annun{2017 3.6% to 12.9% per annum)
$119,580,000 (2017: $122,727,000) of the year end balance will mature within therhoeakes
after the year end. The remig loans will mature between 2023 to 2027 (2017: 2018026).

$39,860,000 of the loans to joint ventures as at 31 Decemben2@%8cured. The loans joint
ventures were interest bearing with nominal interdst ohbetween 6.0% and 7.5% per annum.
The loans are due between 2021 to 2024.

The nontrade amounts due from associates and a joint venture were unsecured andregerest
$39,051,0002017 $40,078,000pf the year end balance is not expected to be receivable within
the twelve months after the year entieTremaining balance of $81,000 2017 $2,817,000) is
repayable on demand.

The nontrade amounts due to asgates are unsecurddterestfree and repayable on demand.
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Details ofsignificantassociates are as follows:

Principal place of Effective equity
business/Country interest held

Name of associate Principal activity of incorporation by the Group
2018 2017
% %
Held by the Company
A FS Dongguan Investment Investment holding  British Virgin 30 30
Holdings Limited Islands

(“FSDI H")
Held through subsidiaries

* FSMC NL Property Grouf Property investmen The Netherlands 33 33
B. V. (" FSMt andinvestment
holding

A FSMCR Hilton Rotterdam Investment holding The Netherlands 24.7 -
B.V.

N Not subject to audit by lawf country of incorporation

*

Auditedby BDO Audit Assurance B.V. and KPM@&ccountantd\.V. for the financial yeaended 31
DecembeR018 and2017, respectively

The following summariseis aggregatethe financial informatioroft he Gr ou pinis i nt er
associates, based on the amounts reported in
2018 2017

Carrying amounts of interests insasiates 58,245 58,015

Group’s share of:

- net profit 5,091 3,648
- other comprehensive income (1,285) 893
- total comprehensive income 3,806 4 541
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Details ofsignificantjoint ventures are as follows:

Effective
Principal place of equity
business/Country interest held
Name of joint ventures Principal activity of incorporation by the Group
2018 2017
% %

Held by the Company

* FS Nieuw Holland Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 50 -
0

Held through subsidiaries

N FSCT DE Property 1 Gmbt Property investment Germany 50 50
& Co. KG ("

N FSCT DE Property 1 GmbltProperty investment at Germany 50 50
general partner of KC

A Dongguan Huijing Hotel Cc ~ Hotelownership Peopl e’ s 10 -

Ltd (“DGHH” of China
n Not subject to audit by law of country of incorporation
* Not required to be audited for tfieancialperiodended31 Decembef018
@ The joint venture was incorporated on 17 September 2018
M Although the Group holds only 10% ownership in

agreement between the Group and its joint venture partner, joint corgs@rissed by both parties
over the activities of DGHH. Accordingly, DGHH is classified as a joint venture of the Group.

The following summarises, in aggregate, the financial informatfionh e Gr oup’' s i nt er €
ventures, based onthe amountsrepoed i n the Group’s consolidat ¢
2018 2017

Carrying amounts of interests in joint ventures 22,572 6,346

Groupresf: sha

- net profit 411 -
- other comprehensive income (309 -
- total comprehensive income 107 -
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Derivative asses and liabilities
Group and Company
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Non-current derivative assets

Cross currency swaps 18,310 350

Foreign currency swap 1,075 —
19,385 350

Derivative liabilities

Cross currency swaps (5,564) (17,290)

Non-current (5,564) (13,122)

Current (4,168)

(5,56_4) (17,290)

As part of the Group’'s strategy to hedge its
from its acquisitions irEurope the Group and Companyhas entered into varioufancial

derivatives involvingcross currency swap cwacts( “ CCSs ” ) and foreign ¢
( “ FSCwith financial institutionswhereby the end result is also to achieve a corresponding

Euro liability. In November 2018, the Group entered into the property financing market in
Australia via a 5660 ownedjoint venture with Tai Tak. The Group has also adopted the same
approach as its European assets, which is to

As at 31 Decembe2018 theGroup and Company bal4 CCSs and one FCS outstanding. The
total notional amount of such contracts amountedapproximately EUR447,505000 and
AUD10,000,000(2017% EUR333,154,00p with remainingtenors of betweempproximately

1 year to5 years RO17 0.5 years to 5 years Under these contracts, the Gramd Company
would pay the fixed EUR denominated notional amsusmtd receive fixed amounts of
$550,559,00Gnd US$96,280,000n aggreyate @017 $335,672,000 and US$135,176,D00

the maturity dates of tHaancial derivatives

Other investments

Non-current

Availablefor-sale equity securities - 23,380

Financial assets measuratfair value through profit or loss
— equity securities 38,631 -
—debtsecurities 39,500 -
78,131 23,380

Current

Availablefor-sale financial assets structured deposits - 38,863

Financialassetsneasuredt fair value through profit or loss
— structured depost 39,262 -
117,393 62,243
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As at 31 December 2018&he financal assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
comprised

@ the Gro@@7s8%0% Equity interest (unquoted) |
Sun”) of ABFBIBEHONMIradailapler-sale equity securities);

(b) a 3year S$ denominated convertible bond witmgipal value 0f$39,500,00q2017 Nil),
and a coupon of 12%2017 Nil) per annumwhich the Group had subscribed frenoint
venturein late December2018 The convertible bond is secureg (a) 100% equity shares of
(i) the joint ventureand (ii)thej oi nt wieoltlyt ownre@ sulssidiary(b) corpoate
guarantees from the holding company and a related compatig ¢dint ventureand (c)
personal guarantee from a directotha joint venturpand

(c) aquoted equity investment $8,326,000Z017 Nil).

The Group has determined that it has no control nor significant influence over East Sun as the
Group does not have any power over the relevant activities of East Sun, and it is not involved in

East Sun’ s b ududimgedic making provessesi e s i n

Structured deposits relate to amoupiaced with financial institutions in the PRC, which are
principatguaranteed. The structured deposits are not publicly tiaaioear interest é2.45%

t0 3.5% (2017 4.1%) per annum

I nformation about the Group’s expossurenentt o cr e
is included inNote 30.
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Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group (prior to offsaftiiradgnces) during the year are as follows:

Recognised Recognised
At in profit Translation At in profit Translation At
1 January or loss differences on 31 December  or loss differences on 31 December
2017 (Note26) consolidation 2017 (Note26) consolidation 2018
$600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $600C

Group
Deferred tax assets
Development prperties 11,644 4,554 (225) 15,973 (1,040) (391) 14,542
Property, plant and equipment - 2,066 2 2,068 2,932 (119) 4,881
Contract liabilities 6,792 3,493 (128) 10,157 2,353 (314) 12,196
Receipts in advance - - - - 328 (7) 321
Trade and other receivables - 1,420 2 1,422 1,035 (77) 2,380
Others 1,125 2,023 48 3,196 (92 (84) 3,020
Total 19,561 13,556 (301) 32,816 5,516 (992 37,340
Deferred tax liabilities
Investment properties (7,923) (2,284) (92) (10,299) 45 234 (10,020)
Property, plat and equipment (597) 585 12 - - - -
Contract liabilities (35) 34 1 - - - -
Trade and other receivables (758) 261 15 (482) 68 11 (403
Other investments - — — - (2,218) 50 (2,168)
Total (9,313) (1,404) (64) (10,781) (2,105) 295 (12,591)
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The amounts determined after appropriate offsetting are included aotiselidatedstatement
of financial position as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Deferred tax assets 33,387 25,905
Deferred tax liabilities (8,638) (3,870)

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 Decembe2018 deferred tax liabilities 0$15,079000(2017 $13,408000) in respect

of temporary differences 266,161,000(2017 $237,727,000 related to the withholding tax on

the distributable profit o érenotrecogisedbbeqalssthes ub s i
Groupcontrols whether the liability will be incurred and it is satisfied that it will not be incurred

in the foreseeable future.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in resphetfoflowing items:

Group

Tax losses 4,083 16,879

The tax losses and deductible temporary differences are subject to agregthe tax authorities
and compliance with tax regulations in the respective countries in which certain subsidiaries
operate.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items because it is not
probable that future taxable pitofvill be available against which the Group can utilise the
benefits.

The tax losses with expiry dates are as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Expiry dae:
- After 5 years - 13,763
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Trade and other receivables

Group Company
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C

Trade receivables 0] 370,378 137,790 - -
Loans to associates

(trade) 7 608,379 497,882 - -
Loans to joint venture

(trade) 7 59,388 - - -

Amounts due from

associates (hen

trade) 7 41831 42,895 - -
Amounts due frona

joint venture (non

trade) 7 521 - - -
Loans to third parties
(nontrade) (i) 35,713 35,051 - -
Non-trade amounts
due from subsidiarie (iii) - - 1,166,483 940,662
Security deposits 25,839 218 - -
Other receivables (iv) 7,756 4,060 2,566 904
1,149,785 717,896 1,169,049 941,566
Prepayments (V) 17,050 12,093 57 39
1,166,835 729,989 1,169,106 941,605
Non-current 660,948 284,455 779,204 370,608
Current 505,887 445,534 389,902 570,997

1,166,835 729989 1,169,106 941,605

() Included in trade receivables a(@ entrusted loans to third parties 024%,153,000
(2017 $119,568,00p via entrusted bank® the PRCbearinginterest(including penalty
interes) ranging froml10.0% t018.0% (2017 6.5% to 30.4%per annunand (ii) a loan to a
third party of $115,594,00@017% Nil) bearing interest of 12.092017 Nil) per annum
$241,153,00q2017 $95,022,000 of theaforementionedbans are securedRefer toNote
30for more details.

(i)  The loans outstanding @t 31 Decemb&018relate tounsecurednterestfreeloans which
arerepayable on demand.

(i) Thenontrade amourst due from subsidiariess at 31 Decemb@018were unsecured and
comprise the following:

1 an amount of$721,311000 (2017 $657,637,00D bearing interest ranging from
1.2%t0 1.9% (2017 1.3% t02.3%) per annunanddueon 2021 (2017 2018 to 2026)
and

1 an amount 0$445,172000(2017 $283,025000 whichis interestfree and repayable on
demand.

(iv) Included in the other receivables of the Group as at 31 DeceP@i@was interest
receivable of 8,056,000(2017 $1,747,000.
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(v) Included in the prepayments of the Group as at 31 Decediti&was prepaid taxes of
$12,102,00q2017 $11,450,00].

The Group’s historical experience in the col
recorded allowancesDue to these factors, management believessrtbaadditional credit risk
beyond the amounts provided for collection |

Refer toNote 30 for more details.

Development properties

Group

2018 2017

$600C $600C
Properties under development for sale 334,335 326,382
Completed properties for sale 26,695 65,309

361,030 391,691
Write down (4,140) (987)

356,890 390,704

The movemenof write downin respect of developmeproperties during the yearas follows:

Group
Note 2018 2017
$600C $600C
At 1 January 987 -
Allowance made 25 3,153 987
At 31 December 4,140 987

Net interest expense capitalised in properties under
development during the year 985 314

Net interest has been capitalised at rates ranging frd¥h to 2.3% (2017 0.9% to 23%) per
annum for development propertiggring the financial year ended 31 Decenb@t8

Included in development properties are staff costs capitalisgt, 201,000(2017 $2,105,000
during the financial year ended 31 Decen@t8(Note 25).

During the financial year ended 31 Deceni®@t8 development properties recognisedostmf
sales amounted t/$,668,000(2017 $208,675,00N

Management assesses properties under development folosamepairmentbased on their

estimates of selling prices and construction costs or indepenuefessional valuations
undertaken, where appropriaBelling prices are based on recent selling prices and the prevailing
market conditions. Construction costs are estimated based on contracted amounts and in respect
of amounts not contracted for, maeame nt ' s esti mates of the amou
independent professional valuations are undertakenyaluations were based on the market
comparable method which takes into consideration the sales of similar properties that have been
transacted ithe open market

Management also assesses if any wide/n of completed properties for sale is required based
on their estimates of selling prices which are based on recent selling prices and the prevailing
market conditionsThewrite downis included nothére x penses” .
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Assetsheld-for-sale

In May 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreemeisat thitd party(the

“Pur cdhasien rel ation t o twihén thd ChemgadusCayspring projecte r t a i

for atotalcashconsideationof approximately$94.8 million RMB465.0 million), to be paid over
several tranches

Property, plant and equipment and investment propedie®unting to$34,667,000 and
$36,722,000 respectivelyere accordinglyeclassifedto asses heldfor-sale

The assets were to be transferred to the Purcbasethree tranchesThe first instalment had

been paid by th@urchaser and the first tramcbf assets had been transferred to the Purchaser

resulting in a gain on disposal of $6,253,000 recordedhier gains in therofit or loss account
An impairment loss of $4,088,000 has been takepavhof the remaining assets héta-sale
which wouldbe transferred by May 2019.

Cumulative income or expenses recognised in other comprehensive income

Thereare no cumulative income or expenses included in other comprehensive income relating to

the assetheldfor-sale

Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C
Fixed deposits 23,779 150 7,264 115
Cash at bank and in hand 101,932 319,148 10,875 4,412
125,711 319,298 18,139 4,527

The balance as at 31 DecemBéd8includedNil (2017 $40,295,00) which were held under
PRC development project rules, where the utilisation of the fundstigcted to project related
payments.

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decergbé8included $11,581,00Q2017 $296,319,00D
which were deposited with financial irtstions in the PRC.The remittance of these funds by
the Group out of the PRC is subject to currency exchange restrictions.

Share capital
Group and Company

2018 2017
Number of Number of
shares US$060I shares US$60 I
Authorised share capital:
At 1 January 2,000,000,000 200,000 2,000,000,000 2,000,000
Capital reduction - - - (1,800,000)
At 31 December 2,000,000,000 200,000 2,000,000,000 200,000
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Group and Company

2018 2017
Number of Number of
shares $6000 shares $6000
Ordinary shares issued
and fully paid
At 1 January 589,814,949 73,640 589,814,949 736,404
Issue of bonus shares 58,981,032 7,735 - -

Conversion of perpetual

convertible capital securities

( * P C d@ifg)the year 219,687 30 - -
Capital reduction transfer to

distributable reserveNte 16) — - — (662,764)
At 31 December 649,015,668 81,405 589,814,949 73,640

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Comp#mshares rank equally with regard
to the Codoglaseeys! s r esi

Issuance of ordinary shares

On 18 April 2018, the Company issued 58,981,032 ordinary shares of US$0.10 each on the basis
of one bonus shares for every 10 existing ordinary sha@ds: (Nil).

Additionally, 219,687 2017 Nil) ordinary shares were issued as a result of the conversion of
PCCS (see Note 17).

Capital reduction

On 31 August 201 7pllowing the capital reductionarried out by th€ompanytheissued and

fully paid up share capital of the Company had reduced from US$589,814,949 comprising
589,814,949 ordinary shares of USKleach to US$58,981,490 comprising 589,814,949
ordinary shares of US$0.10 eacFhe credit arising from such reductiai approximately
US$530,833,000 (approximately $662,764,000) was transferred to a distrilvatanie account

of the Company (seNote 16). In addition, the authorised share itabof the Company was
reducedrom US$2,000,000,000 divided into 2,000,dD shares with a par value of US$1.00
each to US$200,000,0@lvidedinto 2,000,000,000 shares with a par value of US$0.10 each.

Capital management

The Group defines “capital”The Gnouptdsngbpakkt
managiy i ts capital are to safeguard the Group’
maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximiseebblder valueThis will in turn
maintain investor and creditor confidence and sustain the future developihtiee business.

In order to achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may issue new shares, obtain new
borrowings or sell its asset&xcess capital, if any, may also be returned to shareholders.

The Group’ s capit alewedtandunartaged with dus regare tputd capitdl y r e
management objectives and practicésljustments are made to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Company or the Group, to the extent that these do

not conflict witht he di rector s’ fiduciary duties toward

There were no changes in the Gr oufinansialy@g.pr oach
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. However, the

subsidiaries inaporated in the PRC are subject to currency exchange restrictions on the
remittance of funds out of the PRC
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Reserves
Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

$600C $600C $600C $600C
Share premium 9,821 9,609 10,033 9,821
Statutory reserve 36,60/ 33,447 - -
Capital reserve 245 225 (5,988) (5,988)
Distributable reserve 655,029 662,764 655,029 662,764
Fair value reserve - (3,949) - -
Foreign currency translation

reserve 12,84 36,950 - -

Retained earnings 354,53% 267,468 209,692 140,470

1,069,091 1,006,514 868,766 807,067

Share premium

The share premium account repents the excess of the issue price over the par value of ordinary
shares issued by the Company and may be applied only for the purposes specified in the Cayman
Islands Companies Law.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law aalie to the subsidiaries in the PRC, wholly
owned subsidiaries are required to make appropriation to a statutory reAetgast 100% of

the statutory after tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting
standards and reailons must be allocated to the statutory reserve until the cumulative total of
the reserve reaches. B of t he subsi di aSuljeetdo approeagfiom the r e d
relevant PRC authorities, the statutory reserve may be used to offset any latedihegses or
increase the registered capital of the subsidiafiég. statutory reserve is not available for
dividend distribution to shareholders of the PRC subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reservef the Groupcomprises:

(a) interest waivd on intercompany loans;

(b) the difference between the adjustment to-ocontrolling interests and the fair value of
consideration paid on acquisition of rRoontrolling interests in a subsidiaand

(c) thedifference between the fair value and thst@j the treasury shares reissued

The capital reserve of the Company comprises:

(a) interest waived on intercompany loans;

(b) the difference between the fair value and the cost of the treasury shares reissued; and

(c) accrued dividend income on the redeemalbddepence shares waived agubsidiary of the
Companyduring the year ended 31 Decembéfi5
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Distributable reserve

Distributable reservarisedrom the capital reduction carried out by the Company in August 2017
(seeNote15). In 2018, distributableeserve of $7,735,00@Q17 Nil) was utilised forissuance
of bonus shares (seeté¢ 15).

Fair value reserve

In 2017, thdair value reserve compridéhe cumulative net change in the fair value of available
for-saleequity securitiesintil the assets are derecognised or impaired.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises:

(a) foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statemengsgof fo
operations whose functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the
Company; and

(b)) the exchange differences on monetary items
foreign operations, provided certain conditionsraes

Dividends
The following dividends werdeclared and paid by the Groapd Comparty

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C

For the year ended

31 December
Final taxexempt (ondier)

ordinary dividend paid of

1.20 cens (2017 1.00 cent)

per ordinary shareni

respect of financial year

ended 31 December 2017

(2017 31 December 2016) 7,785 5,898 7,785 5,898
Interim taxexempt (ondier)

ordinary dividend paid of

1.00 cent2017: 1.00 cent)

per ordinary share in

respect ofinancial year

ended 31 December 2018

(2017 31 December 2017) 6,486 5,898 6,489 5,898

14,271 11,796 14,274 11,796

After the respectivereporting datg the following exempt (ondéier) ordinary dividend was
proposed by the directoof the Company The exempt (onéer) ordinarydividend ha not been
provided for
Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

1.30 cents per qualifying
ordinary share017 1.20
cents) 8,434 7,078 8,438 7,078
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Perpetual convertible capital securities

On 19 April 2018, the Company issued 147,453,737 PCCS on the basis of one PCCS for every
four existing ordinary shares at an issue price of S$1.10 for each PCCS. Each PCCS shall entitle
the PCCSholder to convert such PCCS into one new ordinary share of the Company, subject to
adjustments under certain conditions.

During the financial year, 219,687 PCCS were converted into 219@87ary shares of the
Company (see Note 15).

The PCCS confer dght to the holderto receivea distribution of 3.98% per annum but the
Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to deferdis&ibution. Any arrears of PCCS
distribution will have to be paid prior to any dividend distribution by the Company taliteaoy
shareholdersin the event the conversion rights are exercised, any arrears of PCCS distribution
will be extinguished.

Loans and borrowings
Group Company

Non-current liabilities

Secured bank loan 36,658 35,817 - -

Unsecured bank loans 604,732 574,171 604,732 574,171
641,390 609,988 604,732 574,171

Current liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 45,338 — 45,338 -

Total loans and borrowings 686,728 609,988 650,070 574,171

The term loans are obtained from banks and financial institutions.
Terms and debt remyment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

Group Company

Secured term loans
Repayable:
— After 1 year but within
5 years 36,658 35,817 [} -
36,658 35,817 T -

The secured bank loan of the Group is secured by a mortgageiovestment property of a
subsidiary (Note 5), assignment of its bank accounts, lease receivables and insurance proceeds
(where applicable).

The Group’ s secur e datetofd.37% Q016 183/ pebannumttheand e r e s t
of the year
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Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C
45,338 - 45,338 -
604,732 574,171 604,732 574,171
650,070 574,171 650,070 574,171

Theunsecured term loanef the Group and Congmybore interest ragranging froml.20% to
3.91% @017 1.20n0 to 2.84% per annunat the end ofhe year.

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Liabili ties
Non-trade
Other amounts due
Bank loans Notes payable to associates  Total
$600( $600(C $600(C $0600C $0600!1
Balance at 1 January2018 609,988 - 12,811 12,437 635,236
Changes from financing casHlows
IAdvances from associates - - - 3,009 3,009
Payment of transaction costs relatel
to borrowings (3,153) - - - (3,153)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 293,551 - — — 293,551
Repayment of bank borrowings (345,950) - - - (345,950)
(55,552) - - 3,009 (52,543)
The effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates 75 - (284) (1,322) (1,531)
Other changes
Liability -related
IAmortisation of transaction costs 4,044 - — — 4,044
Net proceeds from bank borrowings
in operating cash flos @ 128,173 - - - 128,173
[Total liability -related other changes 132,217 - - - 132,217
Balance at 31 Decembe?018 686,728 — 12,527 14,124 713,379
Balance at 1 January2017 306,688 49,950 - 39,167 395,805
Changes from financing cash flows
IAdvances from associates - - — 13,484 13,484
Payment of transaction costs relate:
to borrowings (7,545) - - - (7,545)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 766308 - - - 766,308
Repayment of bank borrowings (744,192) - - — (744,192)
Redemption of medium term notes - (50,000) - - (50,000)
Loan from a norcontrolling interest - - 12,490 - 12,490
14,571 (50,000) 12,490 13,484 (9,455)
The effect ofchanges in foreign
exchange rates 7,976 - 321 (1,047) 7,250
Other changes
Liability -related
IAmortisation of transaction costs 2,830 50 — — 2,880
Net proceeds from bank borrowings
in operating cash flowd 277,938 - - - 277,938
Offset against nottrade balances du
from associate® - - - (39,167) (39,167)
[Total liability -related other changes 280,738 50 - (39,167) 241,65
Balance at 31 Decembe?017 609,98 — 12,811 12,437 635,236
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O This relates to the net proceeds from bank borrowings forem d i n g t Eurdpéamssa@iatesu p * s
and joint ventures, which is part of the Group’

@ In 2017, an amount due to associates of $39,167,000 was offsestagyaamount due from associates
of $39,167,000.

Trade and other payables

Group Company
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017
$600 $600 $600 $0600O0
Trade payables 65,668 106,851 - -
Accruals 25,228 21,150 7,466 6,927
Value added tax, business tax and
other taxes payable 4,312 6,772 - -
Non-trade amounts due to:
- former shareholders and affiliate
of subsidiaries 1,738 1,748 - -
- subsidiaries - - 160,813 120,120
- associates 7 14,124 12,437 - -
Loan from a norcontrolling interest
of a subsidiary 12,527 12,811 - -
Other payables 27,311 17,135 2,187 1,092

150,908 178,904 170,466 128,139

The nontrade amounts due to former shareholders and affiliates of subsidiaries, subsidiaries and
associates are unsecured, intefest and repayable on demand.

The loan fromanoncontrolling interesof a subsidary is unsecured, bears interesB &% (2017
8.9% per annunand isduein 2022.

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$600 $600 $600 $0600O0
Non-current 12,527 12,811 - -
Current 138,381 166,093 170,466 128,139

150,908 178,904 170,466 128,139

Contract liabil ities

Contract liabilitiesmainly represenadvance consideratiareceivedfrom customers for sale of
developmenproperties

Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group fulfils its performance oldigation
under contract witlits custoners. The significant changes in the contract liabilities during the
year are as follows:

2018 2017
$60C $60C
Revenue recognised that was included in remht
liabilities at the beginning of the year (90,243 (178,525
Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts
recognised as revenue during the year 73,796 167,910
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Receipts inadvance

Receipts in advance comprise advareipts received fronie disposal of assets heldr-sale
and rental incomeollected in advance.

Revenue
Group

2018 2017

$% 000 $% 000
Sale of properties 139,336 308,162
Rental hcome from investment properties 13,732 12,270
Interest incomeinder the effective interest method on
- loans to third parties 44 459 30,635
- loans to associatesd joint ventures 37,672 17,093
- vendor financing arrangements 209 56

82,340 47,734

Hotel operations 41,953 16,176

277361 384,392

The following tables provide information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and
the relatedevenue recognition policies:

Property development

Nature of goods or services |The Group constructs residential, commercial and nj
development properties for saletive PRC and Europe.

When revenue is recognised | Properties under development for whth revenue is
recognised at a point in time

For the contractto sellresidential properties and commer
properties inthe PRC, the Group assessedtti@venue is
recognised wher(i) the construction of the relevant proper
has been completed, (ihe properties are ready for handg
to the purchasers, and (iii) collectability of the proceec
reasonably assured.

Completed properties for which revenue is recognised at
point in time

Where contracts relate to the sale of completed props
revenue is recognised whamwllectability of the proceeds
reasonably assured.

Significant payment terms | Properties under developmentand completed properties
Billings to customes are based oterms set out in the sadad
purchase agreement.
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Nature of goods or services

The Group generates interest income from property finaf
and vendor financing.

When revenue is recognised

Interest income is recognised as revenue using the eff
interest method.

Significant payment terms

Interestis received according to the terms set out in the
agreement

Hotel operations

Nature of goods or services

The Group generates hotel income from owning and ope
hotels.

When revenue is recognised

Hotel income is recognised at thgoint at which thg
accommodation and related services are provided.

Significant payment terms

For hotel room income, payment is received when
accommodation and related services are provided tq
customers.

For hotel banquet sales, contract coesation will be billed ir]
stages with the final payment to be received when the goog
services are provided to the customers (i.e. at the end
event). For protective reasons, a portion of the con
consideration is received upfront upon signof the contract
and the remaining consideration will be billed in stages wit
final payment to be received frothe customers when goo
and services are provided to the customers. As suc
financing component has been recognised as the payenens
are for reasons other than financing.

For hotel food and beverages sales, payment is received
the goods are provided to the customers.
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

In the following table, revenue from contractghacustomers is disaggregated by primary geographical markets and timing of revenue recognition.

The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenu
< Reportable segments >
Property development Property financing Hotel operations Total*
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

$600C $600C $600C $600C $600C $0600C $06000C $00O0C

Primary geographical markets

PRC 134,066 306,573 47,200 31,183 22,646 16,176 203,912 353,932

Europe 5,270 1,589 35,140 16,601 19,307 — 59,717 18,190
139,336 308,162 82,340 47,784 41,953 16,176 263,629 372,122

Timing of revenue recognition
Productdransferred at a point
in time 139,336 308,162 82,340 47,784 41,953 16,176 263,629 372,122

* This exludesrental incomefrom investment propdgs
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Other gainsflosses) (net)

Othergains(losses) comprise:

Note

Gainfloss) on disposal of:

- asset heldfor-sale

- a subsidiary 28
- investment properties

- property, plant and equipment (het

Impairment loss on assets hdéta-sale

Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries (net)

Property, plant and equipment written off

Others

Net finance income

Finance income

Interest income under the effective interest method

- bank deposits

- loans to local government authority in the PRC

Total interest income arising from financial assets
measured at amortised cost

Interest income on:

- structured deposits

- financial derivatives

Finance costs

Amortisation of transaction sts
Interest expense on bank loans
Interest expense dimancial derivatives
Interest expense ahird party loan

Less: Amount capitalised

Net finance income

First Sponsor Group Limitec
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement
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Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
6,253 -
1 —
272 (62)
D) 6
(4,088) -
(85) -
) -
487 -
2,838 (56)
Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
1,149 1,271
— 3,546
1,149 4,817
7,130 8,253
8,853 4,012
17,132 17,082
(4,044 (2,880
(4,550) (4,874)
(1,259) (1,112)
(1,139) (458)
(10,992) (9,324)
1,090 314
(9,902) (9,010)
7,230 8,072
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Profit before tax

Profit before tax includes the following:

Audit fees paid/pyable to:

- auditors of the Company

- other auditors

Non-audit fees paid/payable to:

- auditors of the Company

- other auditors

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Direct operating expeses arising from rental of
investment properties

Exchangdoss{gain) (net)

Fair value (gain)/loss (net) on:

- investment properties

- derivative assets/liabilities

- other investmets

Write down ofdevelopment properties

Impairment loss on:

- investment properties

- property, plant and equipment

Hotel and hotspring base stocks written off

Hotel and hotspring prepeningexpenses

Net investment return from a PRC government
linked entity

Operating lease expense

Staff costs

Trade receivables written off

Staff costs

Wages and salaries

Contributiongto defined contribution plans
Termination benefits

Less: Amounts capitalised in
- development properties
- property, plant and equipment

First Sponsor Group Limitec
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Group
Note 2018 2017
$ 000 $ 000
243 249
112 139
161 96
44 -
4 6,172 5,510
5,785 1,627
26,248 (10,933)
5 (6,930) (4,038)
(30,761) 14,177
(12,850) -
12 3,153 987
5 - 602
4 14,053 9,345
- 756
- 2,425
- (403)
483 450
19,665 17,673
- 13
19,019 18,724
1591 1,672
256 32
20,866 20,428
12 (1,201) (2,105)
4 - (650)
19,665 17,673
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Tax expense
Group

Current tax expense

Current year 23,475 30,783
(Ovenlunder provision in respect of prior years (101) 744
23,374 31,527
Withholding tax 1,714 27
Land appreciation tax expense 4,621 8,538
29,709 40,092
Deferred tax (credit)/expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,845 (12,152)
Under provision in respect of prior years 100 -
Effect of changes in tax rates (666) —
Total tax expense 26,298 27,940

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Profit for the year 118,250 93,293
Tax expense 26,298 27,940
Profit before tax 144,548 121,233
Tax calculated using tax rate of 252017 25%) 36,137 30,308
Effect of changes in tax rates (666) -
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions (2,975) (648)
Effect of deferred tax assets not recognised 1,546 1,459
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,161 1,563
Income not subject to tax (16,979 (7,588)
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset (2,729 (3,417)
Land appreciation tax expense 4,621 8,538
Effect of tax deduction on land appreciation tax expense (1,155) (2,134)
(Over)/under praision in respect of prior years D 744
Withholding tax 1,714 27
Effect of results of associataad joint ventures (1,376) (912)
26,28 27,940

The Company is established under the laws of the Cayman Islands and is not subject to income
tax in that jurisdiction. The Companys a Singapore tax resideffom the Year of Assessment
2015 onwards.

The Group’s oper at i on sheNetherlands®ursnadntyto thelPR@nch e PRC
Dutch Corporate Income Tax Law, the statutory taxsafgplicabe t o t hsubsiGariesu p ' s

in the PRC andthe Netherland during the financial year ended 31 Decembet8 are 25%

(2017 25%).
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Withholding tax arising from the siribution of dividends

Pursuant to the Netherlands tax law, a 15% withholding tax is in principle levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the
Netherlands.However if,inter alia, the recijient of the dividends is a company which holds at
least 25% of thehare capital of the Dutch incorporatsampany (either directly or indirectly)
paying the dividends, the tax treaty between Singapore and the Netherlands shall apply and no
withholding taxshall be levied on the dividend8ased on the current structure, the Group is
therefore exempted from withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the Netherlands.

A 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends dectart® foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PR requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2@0lbwer withholding tax rate may be applied if
there is a tax treatyetbween the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investdoh& Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

The Gr ounmnaten agd ¢otwhether to accrue for withholding taxes arising from the
distribution of dividends by certain subsidiaries is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividenddNote 10). The Group considered that the applicable withhgdax

rate to beb% to 10% (2017 5% to 10%).

PRC Land Appreciation TafI(ATO)

LAT is leviedon properties developed by the Group for sale in the BR@evailing progressive
ratesranging from 30% to 60%n the appreciation of land valuethich under the applicable
regulations is calculated based thie proceeds of the sales of properties less deductible costs
including borrowing costs and relevant development expenditbi@sever, the implementation

and ettlement of the tax varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation tax calculations and
payments with the local tax authoritidhe final outcome coulfle different from the amounts

that were initially recorded, and any differences will impact the LAT expenses and the related
provision in the period in which the differences realise.

Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amolutand appreciation
and the related income tax provision.

Effect of changes in tax rates

The creditin 2018 of $666,000(2017 Nil) relates tothe effect ofa redudbn in thecorporate
incometax rates in the Netherlands on opening dettaix balancs. Specifically, a reduction
to 22.55% in the ratapplicable from 1 January 2020 aadurther reduction to 20.5% in the rate
applicable from 1 January 2021 were gabtvelyenactedas at 31 December 2048d this has
reduced the defexdtax liability accordinglyas at 31 Decemb&018
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Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings pelahwas based on the profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders as set out below, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding,

calculated as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

Profit for the year, attributable to the owners of the Comp
Distributionson PCCS

First Sponsor Group Limitec
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January
Issuance of bonus shares

Effect of own shares held

Effect of PCCSconverted during the year
Adjustment for the effect of bonus issue

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
113,008 88,283
(4,541) -
108,44 88,283
Group
2018 2017
6000 6000
Restated®
589,815 589,815
58,981 -
(229) -
50 -
— 58,981
648,717 648,796

(1) Restated for the effect of bonus issue undertaken in April 2018.

@ Adjusted for theeffect of shares in the Company held by a subsidiary. As at 31 December 2018, the

subsidiaryheld 307,6822017 Nil) ofthe Compamy ' s

Diluted earnings per share

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic)
Distributions onPCCS

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)

Weighted average numter of ordinary shares (diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basit
Effect of conversion oPCCS

Weightedaverage number of ordinary shares (dilute
during the year

share
Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
108,467 88,283
4 541 -
113,008 88,283
Group
2018 2017
6000 6000
Restated®
648667 648,796
103,773 -
752440 648,796

() Restatedor the effect of bonus issue undertaken in April 2018.
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Disposalof a subsidiary

On 18 December 201&he Group disposed of ientireequity interest ifFS Dongguan No. 8 Co.
Ltd for a consideration dRMB1.

The net assetnd cash flowsf the subsidiry disposed are provided below:

2018
$600C
Otherpayables 1)
Identified net liabilities disposed (1)
Consideration —*
Less:
Cash and caskquivalentgisposed -
Net cash inflow —*
Total corsideration —*
Less:
Net identifiedliabilities on disposal (1)
Gain on disposal 1

* Amount less tha$1,000

On 3 July 2017, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Guangdong Idea Valley
Advertisement Limited for a consideration of $248¥00.

The net assets and cash flows of the subsidiary dispo28d 7are provided below:

2017

$600C
Investment property 2,462
Trade and other receivables 25
Cash and cash equivalents 674
Trade and ther payables (225)
Current tax payable (62)
Identified net assets disposed 2,874
Consideration 2,874
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents disposed (674)
Net cash inflow 2,200
Total consideration 2,874
Less:
Net identified assets on disposal (2,874)

Gain on disposal —
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Operating segments
I nformation reported to the Group’'s CODM for

of performance is specifically focused on the functionality of services provitlee .following
summarydesci bes the operations in each of the Gro

9 Property development
9 Property investment

development and/or purchase of properties for sale
development and/or purchase of investment properties
(including hotels) for lease

provision ofinterest bearing loans to associates, joint ventu
and third parties, subscription of debt securities,\amdior
financing arrangemest

9 Hotel operations — hotek and hotspringpwner

1 Praoperty financing

Information regarding the result$ @ach reportable segment is included bel®erformance is

measured based on segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management
reports that ar e r ev BegmeatgproftiyusddhboeneaSuregearformanceC OD M
as manageent believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of
certain segments relative to other entities that operate \thithée industries.
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Information about reportable segments

2018

Segment revenue
Elimination of intersegment revenue
External revenue

Profit/(loss) from operating activities

Finance income

Finance costs

Share of aftetax (loss)profit of associates
and joint ventures

Segment profit/(loss) before tax

Other material non-cash items:
Depreciation
Impairment loss on assets héti-sale
Impairment loss oproperty, plant

and equipment
Fair value gain on other investments
Fair value gain on investment properties (1
Fair value gain on derivatives (net)

First Sponsor Group Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Total
Property Property Property Hotel reportable
development investment financing  operations segments Unallocated Total

$600' $600' $600' $0600' $600' $600' $0600O0
139,336 13,734 82,340 42,513 277,923 10,100 288,023
— (2) — (560) (562) (10,100 (10662
139,336 13,732 82,340 41,953 277,361 — 277,361
54,378 36,849 75,194 (20,873) 145,548 (13,732) 131,816
9,772 5,206 2,015 8 17,001 131 17,132
(2,208) (6,630) - - (8,838) (1,064) (9,902)
(231) 10,847 180 (5,294) 5,502 - 5,502
61,711 46,272 77,389 (26,159) 159,213 (14,665) 144,548
(77) - (97) (5,794) (5,968) (204) (6,172)
(4,088) - - - (4,088) - (4,088)

- - - (14,053) (14,053) - (14,053)

- 12,850 - - 12,850 - 12,850

- 6,930 - - 6,930 - 6,930

6,482 5,492 18,744 - 30,718 - 30,718
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Information about reportable segments

2018

Assets
Segment assets
Interests in associatesd joint ventures

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

Other segment information:
Capital expenditure

First Sponsor Group Limited
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement
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Total
Property Property Property Hotel reportable
development investment financing operations segments Unallocated Total

$600' $600' $600' $0600' $600' $600' $0600
534,378 385,145 1,116,569 209,233 2,245,325 55,671 2,300,996
43,218 22,463 15,136 — 80,817 — 80,817
577,596 407,608 1,131,705 209,233 2,326,142 55,671 2,381,813
(372,210 (103,367 (524,257 (11,447) (1,011,28) (47,039 (1,058,319

— 15,863 — 291 16,154 130 16,284
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Information about reportable segments

2017

Segment revenue
Elimination of intersegment revenue
External revenue

Profit/(loss) from operating activities
Finance income

Finance costs

Share of aftetax profit of assciates
Segment profit/(loss) before tax

Other material non-cash items:
Depreciation
Impairment los®n property, plant

and equipment
Impairment loss on investment properties
Fair value gain on investment properties (1
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivatives (net

Other items:
Hotel and hotspring base stocks written of
Hotel and hotspring prepening expenses

First Sponsor Group Limited

and its Subsidiaries
Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Total
Property Property Property Hotel reportable
development investment financing operations segments Unallocated Total
$600r $600' $600' $600' $0600' $600' $0600:
308,162 12,273 47,784 16,500 384,719 7,517 392,236
— (3) - (324) (327) (7,517) (7,844)
308,162 12,270 47,784 16,176 384,392 - 384,392
93,125 12,754 36,321 (20,266) 121,934 (12,421) 109,513
10,241 1,232 4,971 7 16,451 631 17,082
(2,173) (6,728) - - (8,901) (109) (9,010)
1,433 4,574 — (2,359) 3,648 — 3,648
102,626 11,832 41,292 (22,618) 133,132 (11,899) 121,233
(151) - - (5,074) (5,225) (285) (5,510)
- - - (9,345) (9,345) - (9,345)
- (602) - - (602) - (602)
- 4,038 - - 4,038 - 4,038
350 (5,041) (9,486) — (14,177) — (14,177)
- - - (756) (756) - (756)
— — — (2,425) (2,425) — (2,425)
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Total
Property Property Property Hotel reportable
development investment financing operations segments Unallocated Total

$600r $600° $600' $600' $0600' $600' $0600:
2017
Assets
Segment assets 623,553 353,879 803,282 232,615 2,013,329 28,813 2,042,142
Interests in associates and joint ventures 44 159 20,202 - - 64,361 - 64,361

667,712 374,081 803,282 232,615 2,077,690 28,813 2,106,503
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (485,169 (104,043 (388,211) (9,223 (986,6%6) (32,977 (1,019,622)
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure — 42,391 - 11,610 54,001 163 54,164
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Geographical information

The Gr oup ' nessemaré thoselralating to property developrpenperty investment,
property financing and hotel operatiorBroperty financing and hotel opéoat are mainly in the
PRC whikt property development and property investmentaammly in the PRGndEurope.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the
geographical location of customers and segassets are based on the geographical location of the
assets.

Revenue

PRC 204,972 354,343

Europe 72,389 30,049
277,361 384,392

Non-current assets*

PRC 221,312 301,121

Europe 278,494 269,803

Other countries 10,581 6,915
510,387 577,839

* Include property, plant and equipment, investment propertidiaterestsn associateand joint ventures

Financial risk management
Overview

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Grblap.managementatinually
monitors the Group’s risk management process
and control is achieved.

Risk management framework

Theboardof directorshas overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the [&fo s

risk management frameworkh e Gr oup’ s ri sk management polici
analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks

and adherence to limitRisk management policiesid systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Group’'s

The Audit Commi ttee oversees how management

management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequaayséf tienagement framework
in relation to the risks faced by the Group.
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Credit risk

Credit risk is therisk of potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or
counterparty to settle its financial and contractual obligations to tbgpas and when they fall
due.

The trade receivables of the Group comptigee (2017 two) borrowersthat represented8%
(2017 41% of the trade receivables as3atDecembe018

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
on the statement of financial position

Trade and other receivables

The Group has a credibjicy in place which establishes credit limits for customers and monitors
their balances on an ongoing basis.

The Group assesses the credit risk in respect of its property development operations to be relatively
low as payments are usually received frawperty buyers in advande. respect of the credit risk

arising fromits property investment operations, the Group manages the risk by collecting rental
deposits in advance and monitors the outstanding balances on an ongoing basis.

In respect of the crédisk arising from the property financing operations, entrusted loans to third
parties are generally secured by a first legal mortgage of land use rights and/or property as well as
personal guarantees and/or corporate guarantees in favour of the e hangtexcept for loans to

third parties for whichhte Group has an equity intere3the loan disbursed is capped at aget

loan to value rao of the property collateral.

Comparative information under IAS 39

In 2017, the Group established an allmwe for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred
losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance were a
specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss
component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses had have been incurred but
not yet identified. The collective loss allowance was determined based on historical data of payment
statistics for similar financial assets.

The ageing ofrade receivables of the Group that were not impaired on 31 December 2017 was:

Group
$600C
Not past due 81,138
Past due 60 days 236
Past due 6% 90 days 112
More than 90 days 56,304
137,790

FS76



First Sponsor Group Limitec
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Expected credit loss ssssment as at 1 January and 31 Decerfb8
There is © change on impairment loss allowance on the initial application of IFRS 9.

The Group uses a provision matrix to measure the lifetime expected creditdassice for trade
receivables.

In measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and days past due.

In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Gbamghmark to historical datafor similar
financial assets and adjusts forwardlooking macroeconomic factors.

The Group considers a financial ageebe indefault if the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments when they fall due, and writes off the financial asdgtvhen the Group is satisfied that
no recovery of the amount owing is possitMénere receivables are written off, the Group continues
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivableb\these recoveries are
made, these are recoged in profit or loss.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 DecemBed 8

Group
Gross
carrying Credit
amount impaired
$600C
Not past due 336,467 No
Past due %60 days 11 No
Past due 6% 90 days - No
More than 90 days 33,900 Yes
370,378

Out of he gross trade receivable balances past due more than 9838a9amillion (RMB170.0

million) (2017 $56,159,000 (RMB274.6 milliop relateto entrusted loameceivablesfor which

the borrowers defaulted on their interest payments. The Group had called for an event of default
and accelerated the principal loan rgpant date on these defaulted loafi$ie Group holds the

first legal mortgage to the properties pledged as loan collateral, and has also successfully placed
numerous first preservation orders on various properties and other assets owned by the prsonal an
corporate guarantors of the loariBhe Group hd successfully enforced on part of the defaulted
loans duringhe financial yeas ended 31 Decemb@018 and2017which resulted in the partial
settlement of outstanding loan receivables dubit yeass and the recognition of penalty interest
included as part of property financirgvenue income in the profit mssaccount
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Based on the external valuation of the mortgaged properties and internal assessment of the value of
the additional properties arabsets owned by the personal and corporate guarantors of the loans
which have been the subject of various layers of preservation orders placed by the Group under the
various entrusted loan agreementtere applicableno impairment was deemed necessaryife
outstanding loan principal due and interest accatdle reporting date

Based on the aforementioned and historical default rates, the Group believesittzdirment
allowances requiredat the reporting date.

Non-trade amounts due from suldibries

The Company held nemade receivables from its subsidiaries of $1,166,483,G1 7
$940,662,000). These balanegepresenamounts lent tats subsidiaries to satisfiher long and
short term fundingequirementsimpairment on these balances has been measured onrtianit?
expected loss basis which reflects the low credit risk of the expbluatiowance of these balances
is required at the reporting date.

Derivatives and structured deposits

Derivatives and structured deposits are only entered into with bank and financial institution
counterparties with sound credit ratings.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are reghkted.
Group limits its credit risk exposure in respect of investments by only investing in liquid securities
and only with counterparties that have a sound credit rating.

Financial guarantees

As at 31 DecembeR018 the Group has issued guarantees to banks of $§228,527,000
(2017 $321,31500pt o secure the mortgage arrangement:
development propertid®eldfor-sale The guarantees widd be terminated upon the completion

of the transfer of legal title of the properties to the buyAtshe reporting date, the directors did

not consider it probable that the Group will sustain a loss under these guarantees as the Group has
the authoriy to sell the property to recover any outstanding loan balance should the buyers default
on payment.The Group had not recognised any liabilities in respect of these guarantees.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be aldeneet its financial obligations as and when

they falldue. The Group’s approach to managing | iquid
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditons, without incurring unacceptable | osses

Typically, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash on demand and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions andhi@reholders to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. This excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted.

The Group has contractual commitments to incur expenditure on its developopeitips,
investment properties and propegilgnt and equipment (séite 31).
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The followings are the expected undiscounted cash outflows of financial liabilities, including
interest payments, if any, and excluding netting agreements:

Cash flows
Cash flows after 1 year Cash flows
Carrying Contractual within but within after
amount cash flows 1 year 5 years 5 years
$600( $600( $600( $600( $600(
Group
2018
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings 686,728 695,718 45,870 649,848 -
Trade and other payables 150,908 154,955 138,381 16,574 —
Recognised financial
liabilities 837,636 850,673 184,251 666,422 -
Financial guarantees - 229,527 229,527 — —
837,636 1,080,200 413,778 666,422 -
Derivative financial
instruments
Cross currency and foreig
currency swaps
(gross settled) (19,385)
- Outflow (107,019 (65,254) (41,765) -
- Inflow 105281 65,129 40,152 -
Cross currency swaps
(gross settled) 5,564
- Outflow (689,120) (57,691) (631,429) -
- Inflow 713,430 73,715 639,715 -
2017
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and borrowings 609,988 652,165 13,271 638,894 -
Trade and other payables 178904 184,183 166,093 18,090 —
Recognised financial
liabilities 788,892 836,348 179,364 656,984 -
Financial guarantees - 321,315 321,315 - -

788,892 1,157,663 500,679 656,984 -

Derivative financial

instruments
Cross currency swap

(gross settled) (350)
- Outflow (128,388) (1,201) (127,187) -
- Inflow 128,669 2,954 125,715 -
Cross currency swaps

(gross settled) 17,290
- Outflow (462,701) (58,639) (404,062) -
- Inflow 441,961 60,545 381,416 -
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Cash flows
Cash flows after 1 year Cash flows
Carrying Contractual within but within after
amount cash flows 1 year 5 years 5 years
$600( $600( $600( $600( $600(
Company
2018
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Loans and baowings 650,070 695,216 45,719 649,497 -

Trade and other payables 170,466 170,466 170,466 — —
Recognised financial
liabilities 820,53 865,682 216,185 649,497 -

Derivative financial
instruments

Cross currency and foreig
currency swaps (ges

settled) (19,385)
Outflow (107,019) (65,254) (41,765) -
Inflow 105,281 65,129 40,152 -
Cross currency swap

(gross settled) 5,564
- Outflow (689,120) (57,691) (631,429) -
- Inflow 713,430 73,715 639,715 -
2017
Non-derivative financial

liabilities
Loans and borrowings 574,171 612,418 12,750 599,668 -

Trade and other payables 128,139 128,139 128,139 — —
Recognised financial
liabilities 702,310 740,557 140,889 599,668 —

Derivative financial

instruments
Cross currency swap

(gross settled) (350)
- Outflow (128,388) (1,201) (127,187) -
- Inflow 128,669 2,954 125,715 -
Cross currency swap

(gross settled) 17,290
- Outflow (462,701) (58,639) (404,062) -
- Inflow 441,961 60,545 381,416 -

The maturity analyses show the contractual undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities of
the Group and the Company on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity.

The interest payments onnable interest rate loans in the table above reflect market forward
interest rates at the period end and these amounts may change as market interest rates change.
Except for these financial liabilities and the cash flavising from the financial guartaes issued,

it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity asabisove could occur
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

FS30



First Sponsor Group Limitec
and its Subsidiaries

Financial statement

Year ende®1 December 201

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as inteéessara foreign exchange
rates, wi || affect the Group’s incomeThor the
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimisingrétern on risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primar.i
receivables, and loans and borrowinBsesently, the Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge itsterest rate risk.

Interest rate profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest bearing financial instruments of the
Group and the Company were:

Group Company
Nominal amount Nominal amount
2018 2017 2018 2017
$600C $600C $600C $600C
Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 1,073104 617,598 7,264 115

Financial liabilities (500,806 (380,716) (488,279) (367,904)
572298 236,882 (481015 (367,789)

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 157,414 357,948 732186 662,049

Financial liabilities (207,439 (251,965) (170,728) (216,077)
(50,025 105,983 561458 445,972

Sensitivity analysis

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Cash flowsensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change ofLl00(2017 100) basis points'bps’) in interest rates at the reporting date would have
increased/(decreased) prdigfore taxby the amonts shown belowThere is no impact on other
components of equityrhis analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency
rates, remain constant.

(Decrease)/increase
in profit before tax

100 bps 100 bps
increase decrease
$600O0 $600C
Group
31 December2018
Variable rate instruments (500 500
31 December2017
Variable rate instruments 1,060 (1,060)
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Increase/(dereasg
in profit before tax
100 bps 100 bps
increase decrease
$600C $600C
Company
31 December2018
Variable rate instruments 5,615 (5,615

31 December2017
Variable rate instruments 4,460 (4,460)

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currentie&adup entitiesThe
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily taero, Singapore dollarRenminbi, US dollar,
Malaysian RinggiandAustraliandollar.

The exposuref the Group and Compartg foreign currencies based on nominal amois&s
follows:

Singapore us Malaysian Australian
Euro dollar Renminbi  dollar Ringgit dollar
$600 $600 $600 $0600 $600 $060O
Group
2018
Cash and cash equivalents 11,420 - 7,443 84 - 20

Trade and other receibles - - - 597 44 -
Trade and other payables (1,374) (451) (152) (547) (1,687) -
Intercompany balances 879,144 - - -

Loans and borrowings (170,503) - — (268,650) - -
Net statement of financial

position exposure 718,68 (451) 7291 (268,516 (1,643 20
Cross currency swaps (745,958) - — 268,650 - (9,669)
Net exposure (27,27)) (451) 7,291 134 (1,643) (9,649)
2017
Cash and cash equivalents 3,589 44 210 94 - -
Trade and other receivable - - - - 44 -
Trade and other payables (133) @) (142) (26) (1,696) -
Intercompany balances 708,767 - - - - -
Loans and borrowings (216,077) - — (181,906) - -
Net statement of financial

position exposure 496,146 37 68 (181,838) (1,652) -
Cross currencyveaps (532,280) - — 181,906 - -
Net exposure (36,134) 37 68 68 (1,652) —
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Australian
Euro Renminbi US dollar dollar
$600C $600C $600C $600C

Company
2018
Cash and cash equivalents 10,003 7,314 27 20
Trade and other receivables 4 - 594 -
Trade and other payables (1,374) - (547) -
Intercompany balances 879,144 (35,104) (66) -
Loans and borrowings (170,503) - (268,650) -
Net statement of financial

position exposure 717,274 (27,790) (268,642) 20
Cross currency swaps (745,958) - 268,650 (9,669)
Net exposure (28,684) (27,790) 8 (9,649)
2017
Cash and cash equivalents 3,589 79 48 -
Trade and other receivables 3 - 334 -
Trade andbther payables (136) - (236) -
Intercompany balances 708,767 (50) (268) -
Loans and borrowings (216,077) - (181,906) -
Net statement of financial

position exposure 496,146 29 (182,028) -
Cross currency swaps (532,280) - 181,906 -
Net exposure (36,131) 29 (122) -

Sensitivity analysis

A 10%(2017 10%) strengthening of the following major currencies against the functional currency

of each of the Group’'s ent it prdithefaetanyttarefthe e por t
Group and the Company by the amounts shown befo0% weakening of the above major
currencies against the functional currency of
have an equal but opposite efféldter is no impact on other components of eqUityis analysis

assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Group Company

Increase/(decrease) Increase/@decrease)

in profit before tax in profit before tax

2018 2017 2018 2017

$600C $600C $600C $600C
Euro (2,727) (3,613) (2,868) (3,613)
Singapore dollar (45) 4 - -
Renminbi 729 7 (2,779 3
US dollar 13 7 1 (12)
Malaysian Ringgit (164) (165) - -
Australiandollar (965) - (965) -
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Accounting classifications and fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts

The carrying amoustand fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchyuaiteetatvolt does
not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair vedwaifying amount is a reasonable approximation
of fair value.

Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
Designatec liabilities
as fair at fair
value value
through Other through
profit or Amortised financial profit or
Note loss cost liabilities loss Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$600 $600 $600 $600 $0600O0 $600 $600 $0600O0
Group
2018
Financial assets not measured
at fair value
Trade and other receivableschiding
prepayments 11 1,149,785 - - — 1,149,785 1,145,600
Cash and cash equivalents 14 125,711 - - — 125,711
1,275,496 - - — 1,275,496
Financial assets measured
at fair value
Derivative assets 8 - - - 19,385 19,385 19,385
Other investments:
- Equity securities 9 - - - 38,631 38,631 3,326 35,305
- Debt securities* 9 - - - 39,500 39,500
- Structured deposits 9 - - - 39,262 39,262 39,262

136,778 136,778

* As the investmentas made towardsethyear end, managemématsassessed that the initial investment value approgstize fair value.
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Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
Designated liabilities at
asfair value Other fair value
through ~ Amortised  financial through
Note profit or loss cost liabilities profitorloss  Total Level 2 Level 3
$600 $600 $600 $600 $600 $600 $600

18 - - (686,728) - (686,728)

19 — - (150,908) - (150,908)

- - (837,636) - (837,636)

8 - - — (5,564) (5,564) (5,564)
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Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
liabilities at
Other fair value
Loans and Available-for- financial through profit
Note receivables sale liabilities or loss Total Level 2 Level 3
$600( $600( $600C(C $600C(C $600C $600C( $600(
Group
2017
Financial assets not measured
at fair value
Trade and other receivables,
excluding prepayments 11 717,896 - - - 717,896 714,490
Cash and cash equivalents 14 319,298 - — - 319,298
1,037,194 - - — 1,037,194
Financial assets measured at fair value
Derivative assets 8 - - - 350 350 350
Other investments:
- Availablefor-sale equity securities 9 - 23,380 - - 23,380 23,380
- Structured deposits 9 - 38,863 - - 38,863 38,863
— 62,243 - 350 62,593
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Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
liabilities at
Other fair value
Loans and Available- financial through
Note receivables for-sale liabilities profit orloss  Total Level 2 Level 3
$600 $600 $600 $600 $600 $600 $600
18 - - (609,988) - (609,988)
19 — — (178,904) — (178,904)
— — (788,892) — (788,892)
8 - - — (17,290) (17,290) (17,290)
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2018

Financial assets not
measured at fair value

Investment in redeemable
preference shares

Trade and other receivable
excluding prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets measured
at fair value
Derivative assets

Financial liabilities not
measured at fair value

Loans and borrowings

Trade ad other payables

Financial liabilities
measured at fair value
Derivative liabilities

2017

Financial assets not
measured at fair value

Trade and other recaibles,
excluding prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets measured
at fair value
Derivative assets

Financial liabilities not
measued at fair value

Loans and borrowings

Trade and other payables

Financial liabilities
measured at fair value
Derivative liabilities
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Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
Designated liabilities at
asfair value fair value
through  Amortised  through
Note profit or loss cost profit or loss Total Level 2
$600 $600 $600 $600 $600¢C
6 - 575,112 - 575,112
11 1,169,089 - - 1,169,048
14 18,139 - - 18,139
1,187,B8 575,112 - 1,762,300
8 — — 19,385 19,385 19,385
18 - (650070 - (650070
19 - (170,466 - (170,466
— (820,534 - (820,536
8 — - (5,564) (5,564) (5,564)
Carrying amount Fair value
Financial
liabilities at
fair value
Loans and Available-  through
Note receivables for-sale profitorloss  Total Level 2
$600 $600 $600 $600 $600C
11 941,566 - - 941,566
14 4,527 - - 4,527
946,093 - - 946,093
8 - - 350 350 350
18 - (574,171) - (574,171)
19 - (128,139) - (128,139)
- (702,310) - (702,310)
8 - - (17,290) (17,290) (17,290)
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Measurement of fair value
Valuation techniqueand significant unobservable inputs

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair
values, as well as the significant unobservapeiis used.

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Inter -relationship

between significant
unobservable inputs

Valuation Significant and fair value
Type technique unobservable inputs measurement
Group
Equitysecurities at  Net asset value of Discount rate b0% An increase in the
fair value through  the investee entity (2017 0%) discount rate would
profit or loss(2017 adjusted for the result in a lower fair
Availablefor-sale  fair value of the value measurement.

financial assets underlying
Equity securities)  properties held by
the investee

Financial assets Market comparison Not applicable Not appicable
Structured deposits technique-b a n k
price quotation

Group and Company
Derivative financial Market comparison Not applicable Not applicable
instruments technique b a n k
price quotation

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique

Group

Trade and other Discounted cash flows
receivables

excluding
prepayments
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Level 3 fair values

The following table shows a reconciliatiohthe opening balances to the ending balances for
Level 3 fair values:

Group
Equity
instrument -
at fair value
through profit
or loss
$600C
At 1 Januan2018® 23,380
Acquisition 42,896
Change in fair valuacluded inprofit or loss 12,850
Effect of movements in exchange rates (995
At 31 DecembeR018 78,131

@) Before 1January 2018, these equity securitiese classified as availabfer-sale in accordance with
IAS 39. From 1 January 2018, these securities are classified as fair value through profit or loss in
accordance withFRS 9 (Note 9).

Sensitivity analysis

For the Group’'s equity invest menincrease inthai r v a
di scount rate applied, where applicable, woul
$7,81300Q A decrease ithe discount rate applied at the reporting date would have and equal

but opposite effect.

Group
Available-for -
sale equity
securities
$600C
At 1 Januarn®017 —
Acquisition 27,301
Unrealised losses fahe year included in other comprehensive income (3,949)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 28
At 31 Decembe017 23,380

Sensitivity analysis
For t he Gr oforpalesequitysexuritiga 2017,.ea 10% increase in the discount rate

applied, where applicable, would have decreas
increased the Group’s other comprehensive inc
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31 Commitments

The Group has the following canitments as at the reporting date:

@)

(b)

Capital commitments

Contracted but not provided for in the financial statem
- Expenditre in respect of investment properties and

development properties 72,220 68,187
- Commitment in respect of an investment in a joint
venture - 1,678

As at 31 December 2018, the Group entémtman irrevocable bindinggreemento acquire
a hotlfor a purchase consideration of approximately $14.4 million (EUR9.3 million). Please
refer to Note 8 Subsequent eventtsr further details.

Operating lease commitments

Leases as lessee

The Group leases three officsd a hotelinder operatinteases. The leases run for a period
of two totwenty-nineyears(2017 two to four years)yith an option to renew the lease after

that date.At the reporting date, the Group has commitments for future minimuse lea
payments under necancellable operating leases as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Within 1 year 5,461 958
After 1 year but within 5 years 19,983 2,804
After 5 years 100,830 1,058
126,274 4,820

Leases as lessor

The Group is a lessor in respect of its investment propeftid¢ise reporting date, the Group
has norcancellable operating lease rental receivables as follows:

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Within 1 year 19,473 18,368
After 1 year but within 5 years 79,925 76,769
After 5 years 135,382 212,932
234,780 308,069
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Related parties

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions with related parties

based on terms agreed between the parties are as follows:

Group

Associatesand joint ventures

Interest income received and receivable 50,080 17,093
Consultancy fees received and receivable 292 149
Service incomeeceived and receivable 36 157
Lease expenses paid and payable 4,067 -

Affiliated corporations

Service income received and receivable 19 78
Information technology fees paid and payable 3 18
Licence fees, hotel management fees and reservation syst

fees paid and payable 68 56

An affiliated corporation is defined as a corporation:

(@) in which a director of the Group has substantial financial interests or who is in a position to
exercise significant influence; and/or

(b) which directly @ indirectly, through one or more intermediaries is under the control of a
common shareholder

Transactions with key management personnel

The key management personnel compensation comprises:

Group
2018 2017
$600C $600C
Directors’ fees 298 298
Shortterm employee benefits 6,860 5,729
Defined contribution plans 71 68
7,229 6,095

Employee share option scheme

On 19 May 2014, the shareholders of thenpany adopted a share option scheme known as the
First Sponsor Employee Share Option Scheme
participants (which include the naxecutive directors) to purchase shares in the Compéuey.
Share Option Scinee shall continue in operation for a maximum period of 10 years commencing
from 19 May 2014, and may continue for any further period thereafter with the approval of the
shareholders by ordinary resolution in general meeting and of any relevant autiwhiittesnay

then be required.

F02
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The Share Option Scheme is administered by the Administration Committee, comprising members
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nominating Committee.

The aggregate number of shares which may be offered by way of grgtibodo all controlling
shareholders of the Company and their respective associates under the Share Option Scheme shall
not exceed 25% of the total number of shares available under the Share Option Scheme, with the
number of shares which may be offergdaay of granting options to each controlling shareholder

of the Company and his respective associate not exceeding 10% of the total humber of shares
available under the Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options granted under the Sham@uheme shall be determined at
the discretion of the Administration Committee and may be:

@ set at a discount to a price (the “Market |
for the shares on the SGXT for the five consecutive market dagsnediately preceding
the relevant date of grant of the relevant option (subject to a maximum discount of 20.0%),
in which event, such options may be exercised after the second anniversary from the date
of grant of the options; or

(b) fixed at the Market Prie. These options may be exercised after the first anniversary of the
date of grant of that option.

Options granted under the Share Option Scheme will have a life span of 10 years.

During the years ended 31 DecemB8d8and2017 no options have been granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

Subsequent everst

 On 24 January 2019 FS Mil an Property 1 S.-awned. (" F¢
subsidiary of the Companydaorporated in Italy on 11 January 2019, acquired -atsisey
building with a basement (“Property”) situ
Property was formerly a é®om fourstar hotel named Grand Hotel Puccini which has
since closed and is qantly vacant and not leased under any valid lease agreement. The
current designation of use of the Property is as a hbted.Group will completely refurbish
the Property into a hostel to tap on the youth hospitality market.

The purchase consideratiar the Property which has been fully paid on the date of
acquisition amounted to approximately $14.4 million (EUR9.3 million). This is excluding
related acquisition costs of $1.4 million (EUR0.9 million) incutieedate, which comprise

(a) related tax ahlegal advisory fees of $million (EUR0.3 million) and (b) $1.1 million
(EURO0.7 million) insurance premium and taxes paid in respect of the Insurance Policy as
further defined below.

There is an omoing litigation brought by a former tenant of th@eRrer t feQa Bk " )
against the seller with respect to the Pro
on documents available to the Purchaser, th@&nant has alleged that (a) a preliminary

sale and purchase agreement in relation to the Ryopests between the seller and the
Ex-Tenant and (b) the seller is obliged, but has failed, to execute the sale and purchase
agreement to sell the Property to the enant. The EXdenant has sought a court ruling

in order to declarenter alig the exstence of such preliminary sale and purchase agreement

and to give effect to the sale of the Property to th§ &xant.
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The next hearing of the Litigation is expected to be held in late March 2019 at which the
court is likely to set deadlines for tharpes to file their final pleadings. Thereafter, a court
ruling is expected to be issued sometime at the end of 2019. Assuming that appeals are
made up to the Supreme Court in Italy, the litigation process may take up to approximately
eight (8) years.

The seller is obliged under the sale and purchase agreement entered with FSP1 to, among
other things, continue with the Litigation, consult with FSP1 on the appropriate defences
and not to compromise, dispose amnsensEetl e t
seller has undertaken to transfer to FSP1 the entire price actually paid byThadt for

the purchase of the Property in the unlikely event of loss in the Litigation. Based on
information available to the Purchaser, theTenant has altped that the seller has agreed

to sell the Property to it for approximately $9.4 million (EUR6.1 million).

Based on a | egal opinion dated 29 March 20
they are of the opinion that the seller has good présp#cucceeding in the Litigation.
Notwithstanding this, FSP1 has taken up an insurance policy to cover, in particular the
price paid for the Property and the cost and expenses suffered by it shouldTteeabx
succeed in the Lidyi"'gati on (“l nsurance Polii

(i)  On 21 February 2019, the Group has, through a newly Geimamorated indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, FS DE Property 2 GmbH, entered into a conditional sale and
purchase agreement for the proposed acquisition from a third party seller of @i e
interest in two German companies which own and operate theo840Westin Bellevue
Dresden Hotel in Germany. The property acquisition cost is valued at approximately $75.7
million (EUR49.5 million), including estimated transaction costs. The prolasguisition
would be made in collaboration witvéntHot el s Group (“ Event ™),
hotel and owns the remaining 5.1% equity stake in both target companies. Event is also the
Group’s joint venture part n¢erlandsnacquirecein Bi | d €
August 20Z. The completion of the proposed acquisition is expected to take place within
the first half of 2019 after which the two target companies will become subsidiaries of the
Group.

New standards and interpretations not yeadopted

A number of new standardsd interpretations and amendments to standaeleffective for
annual periods beginning after 1 Janu2@yt8and earlier application is permitted; however, the
Group has not ely adopted the new or amended standarusinterpretations preparing these
financial statements.

Of those standards that are not yet effective, IFRS 16 is expected to have a material impact on the
Group'sstatement of financial positian the periodof initial application.

IFRS 16 Leases

The Group is required to adopt IFRS U€asedrom 1 January 2019The Group has assessed

the estimated impact that initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial
statements, as describeeldw. The actual impact of adopting the standard on 1 January 2019
may change because the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents
its first financial statements that include the date of initial application.
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IFRS 16 introdices a single, ehalance sheet lease accounting model for lesséekessee
recognises a righif-use asset “ R O kgprgsenting its right to use the underlying asset and a
lease liability representing its obligation to make lease paymeiiisere are reognition
exemptions for shottierm leases and leases of lgalue items. Lessor accounting remains
similar to the current standarde. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating
leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, diogu IAS 17 Leases,|FRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a LeaS&;-15 Operating Leaseicentivesand SIG27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

Leaseswhich the Group is a lessee

The Group wi recognise new assets and liabilities fopitstfolio of operating leases. The nature
of expenses related to those leases will nhow change because the Group will recognise a
depreciation charge f&®OU assets and interest expense on lease liabilities.

Previously, the Group recognised operating lease expense on a dinaidiasis over the term
of the leasg and recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing
difference between actual lease payments and the expense sedogni

Based on the information currently available, the Group expects an increase indR€ts of
$78294,000, an increase in lease liabilities 80258000 and alecrease in retained earnings of
$1,%4,000as at 1 January 2019he Company expects amcrease irROU asset®of $303000,
an increae in lease liabilities of 32000 and alecrease in retained earnings 09,900 as at

1 January 2019.

Leases in which the Group is a lessor

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the current exgdais®r accounting requirement
No significant impact is expected for leases in which the Group is a lessor.
Transition

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019, using the modified retrospective
approach. Therefore, the cumulativeeeff of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an
adjustmento the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019, with no restatement of
comparative information.

The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definitioteaseaon
transition. This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all contracts entered into before 1 January
2019 and identified as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

Other standards

The following amended standards and interpretatiaaatrexpected to have a significant impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

- IFRIC 23Uncertainty over Tax Treatments.

- Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9).
- Longterm Interests in Associates and lditentures (Amendments to IAS 28).

- Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19).

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 220%7 Cyclevarious standards.

- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.

- IFRS17Insurance Contracts.
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